

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

## Differences in PHQ-9 Depression Severity Between Adults Receiving Ketamine or Ketamine-Assisted Psychotherapy

Sophie Lake Oswin Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Alternative and Complementary Medicine Commons, and the Counseling Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Health

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Sophie Lake Oswin

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

**Review Committee** 

Dr. Sidney Shaw, Committee Chairperson, Counselor Education and Supervision Faculty Dr. Corinne Bridges, Committee Member, Counselor Education and Supervision Faculty Dr. Marilyn Haight, University Reviewer, Counselor Education and Supervision Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

### Abstract

### Differences in PHQ-9 Depression Severity Between Adults Receiving Ketamine or

Ketamine-Assisted Psychotherapy

by

Sophie Lake Oswin

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Counselor Education and Supervision

Walden University

February 2023

Abstract

Treatment-resistant depression (TRD) affects roughly 2.8 million or 1.1% of the United States population. Many traditional treatments of mental disorders including various types of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy do not provide adequate symptom reduction for clients, and many clients diagnosed with TRD seek out nontraditional treatments such as ketamine and psychedelics for their antidepressant effects. Due to the dissociative nature of psychedelic medication wherein resistance is reduced, and a trancelike state is induced, ketamine-assisted psychotherapy (KAP) has great potential as an adjunct to ketamine therapy. Procedures of KAP have been in development for the last 7 years and a consensus on protocol has been evolving. The purpose of this study was to determine the differences in depression self-report ratings using the PHQ-9 between clients who receive KAP versus clients who receive the infusions alone while controlling for baseline at intake and immediately following 6 infusions cycle. Common Factors conceptual framework was used to frame the study. Quade's Rank ANCOVA was computed to determine that no significant differences exist in depression ratings between ketamine infusion only and KAP group, though paired samples t test results indicate statistically significant differences in depression ratings from baseline to follow-up in each treatment group. The positive social change implications are possible new treatment options for individuals who have been struggling with treatment-resistant mental health conditions, contribution to the literature on the effectiveness of KAP for TRD, and to help inform policy changes and establish needs for insurance coverage of ketamine and KAP.

## Differences in PHQ-9 Depression Severity Between Adults Receiving Ketamine or

Ketamine-Assisted Psychotherapy

by

Sophie Lake Oswin

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Counselor Education and Supervision

Walden University

February 2023

#### Dedication

This dissertation would not have been possible without the love and support of my family and friends these past years who have encouraged me to fulfill my dream of becoming a counselor educator and supervisor.

I am forever indebted to my mother, father, and grandparents. You have instilled the value of education in pursuing my dream. With your constant love and sacrifice, I have been able to be successful in my journey to becoming a counselor and educator. You always believed in me, encouraged me, and loved me. Your generosity has made this my dream come true.

My dear baby Xena, whom I gave birth to in the midst of writing this dissertation. You have been a source of love and light throughout this journey.

Lastly and most importantly, this dissertation is dedicated to my husband, Anto. Thank you for your support, patience, and understanding. Your love, kindness, and encouragement has inspired me to complete this work. This work would not be what it is, had it not been for you.

#### Acknowledgments

I owe my deepest gratitude to Dr. Shaw, the chair of my dissertation, who has provided constant support to me along this journey. There have been countless times that you have provided invaluable guidance to me. You are an expert researcher, and a compassionate and dedicated mentor and educator. I am so appreciative to have had your support and knowledge throughout my dissertation journey.

I am indebted to Dr. Bridges, who has been a committee member, internship advisor, and professor during my PhD program. My experience in this program and dissertation would not have been the same if not for your expertise, continuous optimism, and encouragement.

I want to express gratitude to my colleagues Dr. Alex Kohl and Dr. Brandon Grinage, who continue to serve the treatment-resistant population through their work with ketamine and ketamine-assisted psychotherapy. They have paved the way for this dissertation and encouraged me to follow this dream to completion.

List of Tables	iv
Table 1. Paired Samples T-Test 61	iv
List of Figures	V
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Introduction	1
Background	3
Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic	6
Problem Statement	7
Purpose of Study	8
Conceptual Framework: The Common Factors	9
Nature of the Study	11
Definitions	12
Assumptions	14
Scope and Delimitations	15
Limitations	16
Significance	18
Summary	18
Chapter 2: Literature Review	20
Introduction	20
Conceptual Framework: Common Factors	22
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts	25

## Table of Contents

Psychotherapy and Pharmacotherapy: Combined Treatments	
Depression	
Ketamine	30
Ketamine: Mechanisms of Action	
Guidelines for Ketamine Off-Label Use for Mental Health Disorders	
Ketamine-Assisted Psychotherapy	
Summary and Conclusions	40
Chapter 3: Research Methods	42
Introduction	42
Research Design and Rationale	42
Methodology	43
Population	43
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	43
Procedures for Recruitment and Participation of Archival Data	45
Procedures for Gaining Access to Archival Data	46
Instrumentation	46
Operationalization of Constructs	48
Client Selection	50
Ketamine Infusion and Ketamine-Assisted Psychotherapy Protocol	51
Data Analysis Plan	52
Research Questions and Hypotheses	53
Threats to Validity	55

Ethical Procedures and Considerations	57
Summary	59
Chapter 4: Results	60
Introduction	60
Data Collection	61
Assumptions	63
Quade's Rank ANCOVA Results	64
Paired Samples T Test Results	65
Summary	66
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, Recommendations	67
Introduction	67
Interpretation of the Findings	67
Limitations of the Study	70
Recommendations	73
Implications	75
Social Change Implications	75
Methodological, Empirical, and Theoretical Implications	77
Recommendations for Practice	
Conclusion	79
References	81

List of Tables	5
----------------	---

Table 1.	Paired Samples	T-Test	.61
----------	----------------	--------	-----

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Protocol for Ketamine Infusion Only vs. Ketamine-Assisted

Psychotherapy.....35

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

#### Introduction

Ketamine clinics and private practices are conducting ketamine-assisted psychotherapy (KAP) across the United States, but there is not enough evidence to support its efficacy in the literature, nor a clear standard for protocol in conducting KAP (Dore et al., 2019). This contrasts with the ACA *Code of Ethics* which advises counselors to use empirically supported treatments or theories for mental health conditions (C.7.a.; ACA, 2014). Treatment-resistant depression (TRD) affects between 20-60% of the population of clients diagnosed with psychiatric disorders (Howes et al., 2021). Zhdanava et al. (2021) noted that the number of adults diagnosed with TRD is 2.8 million or 1.1% of the United States population. Many traditional treatments of depression including various types of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy do not provide adequate symptom reduction for clients (Akil et al., 2019; Rizvi & Khan, 2019). There is a need for novel treatments for TRD due to the significant impacts TRD inflicts on the lives and livelihood of people in the United States (Zhdanava et al., 2021).

Ketamine is a dissociative anesthetic and was approved in 2019 by the FDA for treatment of depression and suicidality in the form of a nasal spray (U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2022). Robust evidence for rapid antidepressant and antisuicidal effects of ketamine in various forms including infusions exists regarding evidence-based treatment of major depressive disorder (MDD), but there is limited evidence supporting psychotherapeutic methods during infusions (Walsh et al., 2022). KAP has been in clinical development since roughly 2013, but a consensus on protocol and procedures continue to develop (Dore et al., 2019). Dore et al. (2019) defined KAP as occurring in three phases: preparation, administration, and integration.

The positive social change implications of this study include possible new treatment options for individuals who have been struggling with treatment-resistant mental health conditions. An additional social change implication is that this study contributed to the literature on the effectiveness of ketamine by identifying the critical problems faced by persons with treatment-resistant conditions and depressive disorders and highlighting the benefits of ketamine and KAP treatment. Accessibility and equity are important in reducing barriers to access among marginalized or lower socioeconomic groups which are already disproportionally affected by treatment-resistant conditions (Walsh et al., 2022). Yet, ketamine treatment is expensive, between 400-2,000 dollars per infusion, not including KAP (KetamineClinicsDirectory.com, 2021). It is not currently covered by insurance plans, as it is considered off label use of the drug at this time (InnovativeKetamine.com, 2021). A potential positive social change impact of this study is that it may help inform policy changes and establish need for insurance coverage of these treatment alternatives for depression and treatment-resistant cases, so that more people may benefit from ketamine and KAP.

In this chapter, I presented information on the background for my study, a brief review of the relevant existing literature, and the gap in the literature which identifies the problem, that practitioners are providing KAP with limited evidence supporting its efficacy, which contrasts with the ACA *Code of Ethics* which advises counselors to use empirically supported treatments or theories for mental health conditions (C.7.a.; ACA, 2014). I provided the hypotheses and described the conceptual framework of common factors which provided the foundation for this research study. Finally, I addressed the potential limitations and significance of this work to the counseling field.

#### Background

TRD affects between 20-60% of the population of clients diagnosed with psychiatric disorders (Howes et al., 2021). This translates to roughly 1.1% of the U.S. population (Zhdanava et al., 2021). Many traditional treatments of depression including various types of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy do not provide adequate symptom reduction for clients (Akil et al., 2019; Rizvi & Khan, 2019). For example, the large-scale Sequenced Treatment Alternatives to Relieve Depression (STAR\*D) study showed that half of patients responded to an initial trial of an antidepressant (Gaynes et al., 2009). However, only one third of patients with the initial trial reached clinical remission; subsequently only up to one third of clients reached remission following multiple antidepressant trials (Gaynes et al., 2009). For those clients who show insufficient progress, electroconvulsive therapy (ECT), vagus nerve stimulation, and other nontraditional treatments such as ketamine and psychedelics may be used to alleviate mental health disorder symptoms (Bottomley et al., 2020; Rizvi & Khan, 2019; Veraart et al., 2021).

Ketamine and psychedelic-assisted psychotherapy (PAP) are emerging forms of treatment for TRD. PAP is a broad umbrella term which includes a variety of medicines including psilocybin, LSD, DMT, ketamine, and others. KAP falls under the broader term of psychedelic-assisted psychotherapy. Clinical research on psychedelics was widespread in the 1950s and 1960s (Luoma et al., 2020). In the 1970s, the United States categorized psychedelics as Schedule 1 substances, or reclassified as having no medical purpose or potentiate high risk of abuse (Luoma, et al., 2020). After two decades during which psychedelic research was halted, placebo-controlled clinical trials are just beginning to be published (Luoma et al., 2020). Ketamine in the form of a nasal spray esketamine, also known as Spravado, was named a Schedule III controlled substance that was approved by the FDA in 2019 (U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2022). Currently, this is the only psychedelic approved by the FDA for the treatment of mental health disorders, though psychedelics in the form of MDMA, psilocybin, LSD, ayahuasca, and ibogaine are now undergoing clinical trials by the FDA for approval in treating mental health disorders (Mitchell et al., 2021). Medical providers have autonomy to determine whether off-label use of ketamine in the form of infusion, oral, intramuscular, or other method of administration is warranted for treatment of various conditions including mental health disorders.

Although researchers have investigated the effectiveness of ketamine on depression, there is minimal evidence demonstrating the efficacy of KAP, the first analytic study being conducted in 2019 (Dore et al., 2019). In my review of the literature, there are four studies that focus specifically on KAP for depression. In addition, little research has been conducted on the lasting effects of ketamine on mental health, and a clear gap in the literature is that there are no existing studies comparing ketamine and KAP regarding change in depression. It is not known to what extent psychotherapy in conjunction with ketamine treatment accounts for decrease in depression and other mental health symptoms in comparison to ketamine treatment alone (Davis et al., 2021). Psychoactive drugs work synergistically with psychological therapies, however distinct support for assisted psychotherapy during ketamine infusion has not been emphasized in the current use of ketamine for depression (Walsh, 2022). The FDA approved the nasal spray form of ketamine, esketamine, for TRD and did not require adjunctive psychotherapy (Walsh, 2022).

Ketamine-assisted psychotherapy differs from PAP, while both are considered dissociative drugs, they differ in the ways in which they are experienced, as well as in their antidepressant effects (Lennon, 2021). Psychedelics are a class of drug, grouped together due to the quality of the experience they invoke and the common action on serotonin receptors in the brain (Lennon, 2021). Ketamine's dissociative effects cause an experience of freedom from physical reality and lowered inhibition and have been found to have rapid antidepressant effects (Berman et al., 2000; Blier & Blier, 2016; DiazGranados et al., 2010; Griffiths et al., 2021; Phillips et al., 2019). In comparison to ketamine, the history of MDMA as a treatment has been closely tied to the accompanying psychotherapy (Schenberg, 2018). While KAP has been less widely researched and practiced than MDMA assisted psychotherapy, ketamine clinics have begun to introduce similar setting, music, and empathetic presence of a psychotherapist to determine whether the same effects exist in KAP as in PAP (Davey, 2021). I chose to focus this study on ketamine and KAP to contribute to the literature on the potential effects of KAP, as well as the availability of the data, as I work in partnership with a ketamine clinic.

#### **Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic**

It is important to note that the COVID-19 pandemic, declared on March 11, 2020 has marked a global health, social, and economic burden, and has contributed to significant challenges for persons struggling with depression (Bueno-Notivol et al., 2021). Bueno-Notivol et al. (2021) found that while the global prevalence of depression was 3.44% in 2017, the pooled prevalence surveyed appeared to be roughly seven times higher during the pandemic. These findings point to the impact which the COVID-19 outbreak has had on mental health and well-being and that the changes which have occurred since the pandemic's beginning contribute to the increased need for new and innovative depression treatment.

The COVID-19 pandemic has gained a major role in intensive care medicine and poses an unprecedented burden on society and the development of medical services (Weinbroum, 2021). Weinbroum (2021) advocated for the use of ketamine when caring for coronavirus patients who suffered from both physical impairments and mental health conditions such as depression. Weinbroum reported that ketamine could be used in the treatment of patients diagnosed with coronavirus due to its many benefits, specifically reduction in depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts, as well as it's documented safety sedation and anesthesia benefits without depressing cardiovascular or respiratory processes (Weinbroum, 2021).

#### **Problem Statement**

TRD imposes a national cost in the United States, accounting for 43.8 billion dollars in incremental costs (Zhdanava et al., 2021). The estimated 12-month prevalence of major depressive disorder (MDD) is 8.9 million adults (Zhdanava et al., 2021). Of those diagnosed with MDD, 2.8 million (30.9%) qualified for TRD (Zhdanava et al., 2021). There is a need for novel treatments for TRD, which has significant negative impacts on the lives of people in the United States (Zhdanava et al., 2021). There is evidence that intravenous ketamine has the potential to be a part of the next wave of management for this disorder (Voineskos et al., 2020).

According to the ACA Code of Ethics: "counselors must use techniques/procedures/modalities that are grounded in theory and/or have an empirical or scientific foundation" (C.7.a; American Counseling Association, 2014). Although researchers have investigated the effectiveness of ketamine on depression, there is minimal evidence demonstrating the efficacy of KAP, the first analytic study being conducted in 2019 (Dore et al., 2019). In my review of the literature, there were four studies that focus specifically on KAP for depression. Practitioners continue to provide KAP despite limited research supporting its efficacy and no published protocols and standards for treatment (Dore et al., 2019). Consequently, this lack of research presents a problem: there is a need for novel treatments for TRD and practitioners continue to provide KAP, yet the ACA *Code of Ethics* calls on counselors to provide empirically supported treatments. Dore et al. (2019) measured KAP in their quantitative analysis as having three distinct phases: preparation, administration, and integration (wherein psychotherapy occurs). While researchers have investigated the difference between medication and psychotherapy, with combined treatments demonstrating superior outcomes (Kamenov et al. 2019; Karyotaki et al. 2016), the effectiveness of ketamine infusions in comparison to KAP had not yet been analyzed. Given the economic and health impacts of TRD, it is important to determine if medication paired with psychotherapy contributes to superior outcomes than intravenous ketamine alone.

This dissertation study contributes to the counseling profession by providing greater understanding of the impact of ketamine and KAP on the treatment of depression. This research will support professional counselors' practice by evaluating the effectiveness of these new waves of treatment, thus contributing to the existing literature and knowledge needed to use these approaches with clients. Increased use of KAP indicates a need for counselor educators and supervisors to demonstrate teaching and supervision theory and techniques on conducting ethical and effective KAP. Psychedelic-assisted psychotherapy is becoming more commonplace, and efficacy studies are underway. For the counseling profession, this translates to a need for counselor education programs to consider training counselors in the procedures of KAP and PAP.

#### **Purpose of Study**

The purpose of this quantitative quasi-experimental study was to determine if there is a statistically significant difference in changes in depression from baseline to immediately following treatment as measured by the PHQ-9, among clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving KAP after controlling for baseline depression severity. The dependent variable is depression severity as measured by the PHQ-9. The independent variable is ketamine infusion with or without KAP. Baseline depression severity is considered a covariate in this study.

#### **Research Question and Hypotheses**

RQ – Is there a statistically significant difference in change in depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, from baseline to immediately following treatment between clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving ketamine-assisted psychotherapy after controlling for baseline depression severity?

 $H_0$  - There is not a statistically significant difference in change in depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, from baseline to immediately following treatment between clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving ketamine-assisted psychotherapy after controlling for baseline depression severity.

 $H_a$  - There is a statistically significant difference in change in depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, from baseline to immediately following treatment between clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving ketamine-assisted psychotherapy after controlling for baseline depression severity.

#### **Conceptual Framework: The Common Factors**

The conceptual framework that grounded this study was the common factors approach to psychotherapy, research, and practice, focusing specifically on common concepts of counseling theories and how they contribute to treatment success. The common factors framework was originated by Saul Rosenzweig in 1936 (Rosenzweig, 1936). The therapists who provided KAP for the clients in this study have differing theoretical orientations to counseling. The common factors approach emphasizes the importance of commonalities among therapy treatment orientations in effecting positive change in their clients' lives (Duncan, 2002).

The logical connections between the common factors framework and the nature of this study were the inclusion of several different therapists with different theoretical approaches to treatment providing KAP in this study. Rather than crediting specific techniques or tools that are beneficial in treating mental health disorders, the common factors approach recognizes various components of the therapeutic relationship as contributing to its success (Duncan, 2002). Since 1936, many theorists have built upon the concepts of the common factors, with most agreeing that it is the personality of the therapist and the quality of the therapeutic alliance which accounts for the positive effects of psychotherapy, rather than the various interventions or intricacies of the many psychological theories (Duncan, 2002). For example, Rogers (2007) identified the central tenets of psychotherapy as unconditional positive regard, empathy, and honesty (Rogers, 2007). In contrast, Jerome Frank (1983) identified the tenets as: an emotionally charged confiding relationship, a healing setting, a rationale, a procedure requiring active participation in client and therapist with the understanding that it will be used to restore the client's health. The common factors approach related to this study, as the concepts demonstrated the significance of the common tenets of various forms of psychotherapy. This was a central conceptual framework, as several therapists provided the KAP in this study.

The clients who received KAP were experiencing a therapeutic relationship during treatment, while those clients who elected out of KAP did not have this experience. The common factors framework relates to the research questions as the focus was to compare two groups of clients, one in which there was a psychotherapeutic relationship wherein the common factors were demonstrated, and the other in which there was not such a therapeutic relationship. The framework relates to data analysis as I used Quade's rank ANCOVA to compare the PHQ-9 outcomes of these two groups of clients.

#### Nature of the Study

The nature of this study was a quantitative, retrospective quasi-experimental analysis which determined whether differences existed in depression between ketamine infusions compared to KAP. The key study variables included the independent variable ketamine infusion with or without KAP. The dependent variable was PHQ-9 score at baseline and immediately following the sixth and final infusion. Baseline depression severity was considered a covariate. The rationale for using a quantitative approach to this study was to determine whether a relationship existed between ketamine infusion and depression symptoms, and the effectiveness of ketamine infusion with or without accompanying psychotherapy.

To address the research questions in this quantitative study, specific analysis included Quade's nonparametric analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) (see Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). Quade's ANCOVA analysis included controlling for baseline severity on the PHQ-9 as well as measuring the outcome of potential change in depression score at end of treatment and one month follow up. The ketamine provider clinic collected client data. This ketamine clinic was authorized to store and administer ketamine infusions. The clinic staff collected client self-report measures including the PHQ-9, GAD-7, and subjective mood scores via the Osmind app; an app specifically designed for ketamine providers. All data used in this study were archival, I was provided with a deidentified dataset in accordance with a data use agreement between the ketamine clinic and researcher. I had no interaction with clients throughout the course of this study.

#### Definitions

*Baseline severity:* Baseline severity referred to the score of the outcome measure at baseline (prior to treatment) (Nunes et al., 2011). Covariation for baseline severity of the outcome measure should be considered for inclusion in studies which aim to contribute to literature on evidence-based treatment (Nunes et al., 2011). Baseline severity is strongly associated with outcome in studies (Nunes et al., 2011).

*Common factors:* The common factors conceptual approach originated in 1936 by Saul Rosenzweig. The framework states that success is not a reliable guide for validity of a theory to psychotherapy. Rather, implicit common factors among therapists explains the success of psychotherapy. Many theorists have contributed to the conversation on the common factors model and agree that more similarities exist between approaches than differences. For example, Rogers discussed therapist congruence, accurate empathy, and unconditional positive regard as the factors which are most influential common factors of psychotherapy (Rogers, 2007), while Garfield identified the therapist being a sympathetic non-moralizing healer, reassurance and support, promoting successful coping strategies, facing or confronting a problem, and opportunity to gain understanding about oneself (Garfield, 1997).

*Ketamine-assisted psychotherapy (KAP):* In the first analytic study on KAP, Dore et al., (2019) described three phases of KAP: preparation, administration, and integration. Preparation includes the anesthesiologist/nurse administering various tests to the patient such as blood work, height, and weight. The patient also signs consent forms. Administration phase involves the patient sitting or lying down for the IM, IV, or other route of administration of ketamine; music may be played at this time (Dore et al., 2019). Integration phase takes place during or after the administration of ketamine with a licensed professional counselor or therapist who uses a particular theoretical orientation such as: CBT, ACT, DBT, EFT, existential, or another orientation. The content of KAP is like an outpatient therapy session; the therapist focuses on the client experience of the session, current and past struggles, anxiety, depression, or other mental health problem. KAP has been in clinical development for several years and a consensus on protocol and procedures is evolving (Dore et al., 2019).

*Ketamine infusion:* Ketamine infusions are administered to the client by an anesthesiologist or Certified registered nurse anesthetist (CRNA) on site. Ketamine is administered in a dose of 0.5/mg/kg, but some patients respond to doses as low as 0.1 mg/kg and others require higher doses, such as up to 0.75mg/kg (Andrade, 2017). The infusion is typically administered over the course of 40 minutes, but safety and efficacy has been demonstrated in sessions ranging between 2 and 100 minutes (Andrade, 2017).

*The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)*: A valid and reliable instrument for the assessment of depression severity. The assessment tool has cut-offs for the severity of depression, including 5, 10, 15, 20 which represent cutoff points for mild, moderate, moderately severe, and severe depression, respectively (Inoue et al., 2012). The PHQ-9 is sensitive to changes in depression over time points (Cameron et al., 2008; Lowe et al., 2004).

*Psychedelic renaissance:* a term used by psychiatrists and psychotherapists in the past decade, referring to the increase in research on psychedelic substances (Dyck, 2017). In 2014, the *Scientific American* published an editorial calling for the end to the ban on psychedelic drug research and appeal that the U.S. government should move these drugs to the less strict Schedule II classification of substances so that researchers may better research their effects. Research is ongoing which explores whether psychedelics have therapeutic potential (National Institute of Health [NIH], 2017).

#### Assumptions

The most basic assumption in this quantitative research is that reality is something which can be studied objectively, measured, and analyzed. I tested the hypothesis of this study using deductive forms of logic and statistical analysis. An assumption in quantitative research is that the researcher remains value-free, distant, and independent of the research process. I was a part of the research process; in that I have likely provided KAP to the clients in this study. It is possible that this dual role, acting as both a therapist and researcher, may create conflicts or undue influences on the therapy or research process. An additional assumption was that clients in this study have provided honest answers to the PHQ-9 outcome measure.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The delimitations of this study were related to the gap in the literature on the efficacy of ketamine and KAP and will contribute to the literature on whether KAP has an advantage in the treatment of depression. The scope of this research study was to focus on the depression scores as assessed by the PHQ-9, before, immediately after, and one month following infusions. Clients have also provided subjective mood scores, which were in response to the question: "How are you feeling today? 1 (bad) and 10 (great)." However, I have chosen not to include these scores in this analysis due to the lack of existing literature which has validated the use of subjective mood scores in the research on depression severity.

Additionally, a diagnosis of MDD is necessary for inclusion in this study. The purpose of this is that the PHQ-9 is used only to assess for depression severity, not severity of other mental health disorders. I have chosen to include clients who have been provided KAP from several different therapists who employ various theoretical orientations to counseling and psychotherapy. The purpose of this is related to the conceptual framework of this study, the common factors approach which emphasizes the foundational aspects of psychotherapy which lead to treatment success. I have limited this analysis to clients who were 18 years and older at the time of infusion. In addition, the geographical location included clients who received ketamine and KAP from two ketamine clinics in the southeastern region of the United States.

There were several threats to the generalizability of this study including focus on ketamine and KAP for clients diagnosed with MDD which does not include clients with other diagnoses; therefore, it is not possible to make generalizing assumptions about ketamine and KAP's effectiveness with all mental health disorders. Another generalizability threat to consider is selection bias. Clients who opted to have KAP may share characteristics which makes them different from the clients who opted out of KAP. Finally, the maturation effect may contribute to limits of generalizability due to changes in the clients' self-report measures from initial report to the report one month following infusions. These changes may range from client mood changes to changes in work, schooling, health, or other physical, social, or behavioral changes in the client's life.

#### Limitations

In this study I am using nonprobability sampling, and clients were included based on their accessibility and availability to the infusions and accompanying psychotherapy. Additionally, ketamine is expensive, and the infusions are not covered under insurance plans at this time. A cycle of infusions costs roughly \$2,400 dollars, with accompanying psychotherapy the cost may be upwards of \$3,200 dollars. This may exclude clients of lower income households. The cost of infusions and accompanying psychotherapy may limit the ability to generalize the results of this study to the general population as there may be some potential economic biases of privilege inherent with clients from higher SES backgrounds.

It is possible that other events which have occurred in the clients' lives may affect the PHQ-9 scores, and it is therefore not plausible to say that all changes in PHQ-9 scores from baseline, immediately following infusions, and one month following infusions were due solely to the effects of ketamine infusions/KAP. In addition, the Hawthorne effect may impact the internal validity of this research. Defined as the change in subject responses or behavior consequent to awareness of being studied in research, the Hawthorne effect has been found to influence subject responses due to being observed and having behavior assessed (McCambridge et al., 2014). Clients become concerned about social desirability and researcher expectations and may change their responses on self-report measures (McCambridge et al., 2014). This is a proposed limitation associated with using self-report instruments in research.

A consideration and potential bias for this study is that I am employed with the private practice which works in conjunction with the ketamine clinic by providing KAP. Another potential problem could be time required to meet my minimum sample size. Not all clients who were provided ketamine infusions or KAP provide their PHQ-9 data. I needed to ensure that enough client data was collected to make valid inferences.

An additional limitation to this study is lack of comprehensive demographic data. The only demographic data collected by the ketamine clinic includes age, gender, past medical history, location in city and state, referral source, and mental health diagnosis; clients' race/ethnicity is not collected. Racial and ethnic minorities experience poorer health outcomes yet are not included in research studies as often as White people (CDC, 2013). The lack of racial or ethnic identification is a proposed limitation for this study as no generalizations beyond the available sample demographics may be deduced on differences in depression ratings according to client race and ethnicity.

#### Significance

This study is significant in that it will fill a gap in the understanding and literature on comparison of the efficacy of intravenous ketamine and KAP. Filling this gap is important as KAP has limited empirical evidence, and the ACA *Code of Ethics* calls for counselors to use empirically supported treatments or theories for clients with mental health conditions (C.7.a.; ACA, 2014). Through the results of this study, I intend to provide research on new and developing therapies for clients struggling with chronic and treatment-resistant mental health disorders. My aim in this study is to contribute to the growing literature on the efficacy of KAP by analyzing the differences in PHQ-9 scores between those clients who have received both KAP and the infusions, and the infusions only.

Accessibility to ketamine infusion and KAP treatment is a social change consideration for this study. As previously mentioned, at this time, the six cycles of infusions and KAP together may cost between \$2,400-3,200 dollars. It may not be available to those clients who were coming from lower income households, and most treatments are not covered by insurance plans at this time. I aim to impact treatment disparity through this research, by contributing to the literature on the effectiveness of KAP, so that treatment may become more readily available for coverage through insurance providers.

#### Summary

In this chapter, I have presented the topic of ketamine infusion and KAP in their relevance to the treatment to depression. Practitioners across the United States are

providing KAP without adequate evidence supporting its efficacy, this contrasts with the ACA Code of Ethics which advises counselors to use empirically supported treatments or theories for mental health conditions (C.7.a.; ACA, 2014). I have presented the research questions and discussed the theoretical foundation of the common factors approach. Finally, I have presented the social change implications which include contribution to the knowledge of the developing therapies for the treatment of depression. In Chapter 2, I will provide a review of the literature related to depression, ketamine infusions, and KAP. I will also discuss the common factors conceptual framework.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

#### Introduction

The specific research problem addressed through this study is that practitioners across the United States are providing KAP without adequate evidence supporting its efficacy, this contrasts with the ACA *Code of Ethics* which advises counselors to use empirically supported treatments or theories for mental health conditions (C.7.a.; ACA, 2014). In addition, there is a need for novel treatments for TRD due to its significant negative economic and health impact on persons in the United States (Zhdanava et al., 2021), and ketamine has the potential to be a part of the next wave of treatment for this disorder (Voineskos et al., 2020). The purpose of this quantitative study is to determine if there were statistically significant changes in self-report of depression symptoms from baseline to immediately following treatment, as measured by the PHQ-9, among clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving KAP. In this study, there were two treatment groups, both receive ketamine infusions, but one group elected for KAP sessions, while the other group had opted out of KAP sessions.

While ketamine has been used for many decades as an anesthetic in battlefields and emergency rooms (Moghaddam, 2021), it is only within the last 20 years that ketamine has been explored and studied as a part of the *psychedelic renaissance* for its effects on mental health. The research that exists on ketamine has clearly indicated strong positive results in subjects struggling with suicide and TRD within a matter of hours after administration (Matveychuk et al., 2020); however, there is a lack of data indicating the long-term therapeutic effects of ketamine on the clients' depression symptoms (Blier & Blier, 2016).

In the last five years, KAP protocol has been developing and evolving, and experts have not yet arrived at a consensus for procedures and protocol (Dore et al., 2019). Over time however, analysis of available data, especially from client self-report measures, have contributed to the continued development of a replicable protocol for KAP (Dore et al., 2019). Dore et al. identified KAP as occurring in three distinct phases: preparation, administration, and integration. In preparation, the anesthesiologist/nurse conducts medical screening and provides consent and demographic forms for the client to complete. In the administration phase, the anesthesiologist/nurse provides the ketamine infusion to the client. In the integration phase, a licensed mental health clinician conducts therapy with the client.

In this literature review, I will discuss the current and evidence-based treatments of depression which include psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy, as well as nontraditional methods such as ECT and vagus nerve stimulation. I will also examine the current use and findings of ketamine and KAP in the treatment of depression. I will present the limited empirical studies on KAP in the treatment of depression, as well as the long-term effects of ketamine infusions on mental health diagnoses.

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

The keywords I searched in this literature review included the following: Intravenous Ketamine, Ketamine, Ketamine-Assisted Psychotherapy, Ketamine and Depression, Ketamine and Treatment-Resistant Depression, PHQ-9, Patient Health *Questionnaire*. The databases I searched included Thoreau, APA PsycINFO, SAGE Journals, Pubmed, JSTOR, and Google Scholar.

I reviewed existing literature spanning the past five years, from 2016-2022. Most of the literature I found and used for this study is current, within the last five years. There were some exceptions to this, due to my inclusion of articles which provide historical perspective on the conceptual framework. These few include seminal articles going back to 1936 on the founder of the common factors approach.

#### **Conceptual Framework: Common Factors**

The common factors approach to psychotherapy is the conceptual framework for this study. The common factors approach for research and practice focuses on the common concepts of counseling theories and how they contribute to treatment success. The concept of the common factors was originated by Saul Rosenzweig in 1936 in an article (Rosenzweig, 1936). After Rosenzweig's 1936 article, little else was written about the common factors of psychotherapy until the 1950s, when it began to be discussed and explored by a variety of theorists (Duncan, 2002). The central tenets of the common factors framework include the *operation of unverbalized and implicit factors such as catharsis, the personality of the therapist, consistency of the therapeutic ideology as a basis for reintegration*, as well as the *alternative formulation of psychological events* (Duncan, 2002). After this first article on the common factors, several prominent theorists including Carl Rogers and Saul Rozenweig assembled at the 1940 American Orthopsychiatric Society conference to discuss their work with clients in counseling (Duncan, 2002). At this conference, the panelists agreed that more similarities among therapeutic approaches existed than differences, including *that objectives are similar, the quality of the therapeutic relationship is central, respecting client autonomy, and increasing client's understanding of self* (Duncan, 2002).

In the 1950s, more theorists began placing attention on the common factors approach. In 1955, Hoch commented that despite therapists' various treatment techniques and theories, there are similar therapeutic results, which can lead to the conclusion that theoretical orientations are not as important as the common factors present in therapies (Duncan, 2002). Jerome Frank contributed to the literature on the framework in 1983, as he wrote extensively about the commonalities across therapeutic approaches and identified four common features across orientations: *an emotionally charged confiding relationship with a helping person, a healing setting, a rationale, a conceptual theme or myth*, and a *ritual*- or procedure requiring active participation in client and therapist with the understanding that it will be used to restore the client's health (Frank, 1983, p. 19-20.)

Carl Rogers also wrote about the common factors inherent in counseling and psychotherapy, or, the *necessary and sufficient conditions* of therapeutic change (Rogers, 2007). Rogers identified three therapist qualities which account for this change, including *being genuine and honest, unconditional positive regard or basic respect,* and *empathy* (Rogers, 2007). He emphasized that under these conditions of therapy, the client would become the arbiter of their own subjective experience, empowering the client and encouraging them to make the needed changes in life (Samstag, 2007).

The nature of this study is inclusion of several different therapists who employ various theoretical orientations to KAP treatment. This coincides with the conceptual

framework of common factors, namely, that it is the commonalities among treatment approaches lend to therapeutic success rather than the differences between modalities (Frank, 1983). Rather than crediting specific techniques or tools that are beneficial in treating mental health disorders, the common factors conceptual framework places emphasis on the quality of the relationship between therapist and client and working toward the agreed upon goals (Duncan, 2002).

Ketamine infusions induce a trance-like state, which may allow for easier access of the aspects of depression, anxiety, or other mental health condition which are often barred from conscious awareness (Wolfson, 2016). Addressing the trauma, attachment, existential struggles, failures, and oppressions, alongside the human need for being, connection, compassion, justice, and morality may take a significant amount of trust between therapist and client over many sessions (Wolfson, 2016). Due to the trance-like state brought on by dissociation, KAP allows for a breakdown of resistance and greater corresponding openness to access the complex innerworkings of a mental health problem (Wolfson, 2016).

While the client's resistance is reduced through ketamine infusion, it is important that the therapist provide the necessary conditions, including an *emotionally charged confiding relationship, a healing setting, a rationale for treatment,* and *active participation in restoring client's health,* as outlined by Jerome Frank (1983, p. 19-20). These vital components of the therapeutic relationship may serve to strengthen the therapeutic alliance, and therefore contribute to the positive results of the ketamine
treatment. The therapeutic relationship, with these common factors, may contribute to stronger treatment outcomes (Wampold, 2015).

Researchers of KAP have demonstrated the importance of therapeutic support and alliance throughout infusions (as indicated by clients' self-report), and this supports the inclusion of the common factors approach as a central tenet of this study. For example, "trust" in the ketamine providers influenced the subjects' willingness to try ketamine and perceived treatment success as found in Griffiths et al. (2021). Jilka et al. (2019) surveyed individuals on the subject of ketamine and client views and found that subjects expressed their desire to have not just monitoring by a physician or nurse, but also a relationship with a counselor or therapist who "understands depression and mental illness" (p. 4).

It is important to note that KAP, wherein a client forms a therapeutic alliance with a therapist, differs from the relationship the client may have with the ketamine infusion provider. The anesthesiologist or anesthetist nurse checks in on the client to assess for physical markers of distress and to ensure that the client has reached necessary levels of dissociation (American Psychiatric Nurses Association [APNA], 2021). This provider does not stay throughout the infusion providing support or fulfilling the common factors of psychotherapy, such as is found in KAP.

## Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts

In this section, I present the literature which provides the basis for this research project. I begin by discussing the evidence-based treatment of combined psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy for TRD, followed by the status of depression and depression treatment in the United States. I will then discuss ketamine and KAP in the treatment of depression.

## **Psychotherapy and Pharmacotherapy: Combined Treatments**

There is evidence that psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy are both tools which have a positive effect on mental health disorders (Kamenov et al. 2017). In their metaanalysis, Kamenov et al. found that compared to control conditions, both psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy had small to moderate effects on functioning, with slight superiority of psychotherapy. The mean effect of psychotherapy on functioning was g=.43 with 95% confidence interval, whereas for pharmacotherapy, the effect was g=.31with a 95% confidence interval. Both yielded small to medium effect sizes. Between client functioning and quality of life, the therapies yielded no significant differences (Kamenov et al. 2017). Kamenov et al. found that the combined treatment was significantly superior when compared to either of the treatments alone yielding small effect sizes. Combined treatment was significantly more efficacious compared to medication alone (g = .36, 95% CI .11-.62), while studies comparing combined treatment with psychotherapy alone, favored combined treatment, which yielded an effect size (Hedges' g) of .39 (95% CI .19-.58). Lesperance (2007, as cited in Kamenov et al., 2017) found that combined treatment of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy is superior to psychotherapy alone for functioning, yielding an effect size (Hedges' g) of 0.30. Bellino (2006 as cited in Kamenov et al., 2017) found that combined treatment is superior to pharmacotherapy alone for quality of life, yielding an effect size (Hedges' g) of 0.42.

Karyotaki et al. (2016) conducted a meta-analysis comparing the efficacy of pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy alone versus a combination of both in the treatment of MDD. Karyotaki et al. included 23 randomized controlled trials with 2184 clients and found that combined psychotherapy with antidepressants was more efficacious in reducing symptoms compared to antidepressants alone after 6 months or longer post-randomization (OR = 2.93, CI 95%, 2.15-3.99, p < 0.001). In addition to the study by Kamenov et al. (2017), this study contributes to the literature on the efficacy of the combination of psychotherapy and medications.

Blais et al. (2013) explored the effectiveness of treatment for depression using a sample of 1,322 psychiatric outpatients who received either psychotherapy, pharmacotherapy, or combined treatment. On average, all these treatments produced clinically significant outcomes with effect sizes surpassing no-treatment benchmark, with no significant differences between groups from self-report measures. Blais et al. conducted a one-way ANOVA comparing outcomes between clients by type of treatment and found no significant treatment differences between them (F(2, 1,320) = 1.001, p = .36). While the ANCOVA demonstrated no significant differences between groups, Blais et al. used paired *t* tests results to explore degree of improvement between each treatment group. The results indicated improvement representing a medium effect size (Cohen's *d*) of 0.61 for the pharmacotherapy and combined treatment groups (Cohen's *d*) of 0.66.

Kamenov et al. (2017), Karyotaki et al. (2017), and Blais et al. (2013) provided evidence that the combination of medication and psychotherapy are statistically significantly effective in reducing symptoms of depression. These researchers determined that patients offered either pharmacotherapy such as antidepressants, or psychotherapy, yielded roughly similar treatment effects, namely the researchers found significant improvement from baseline and no significant between group differences between those offered psychotherapy versus pharmacotherapy. There has been limited research on the combination of intravenous ketamine (pharmacotherapy) and psychotherapy with the first analytic study performed in 2019 by Dore et al., which yielded statistically significant reduction in depressive symptoms.

## Depression

According to the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH, 2021), one in five adults in the U.S. lives with a mental disorder: roughly 51 million people. An estimated one in 25 Americans are diagnosed with a severe mental health disorder which causes significant impairment in functioning and interferes with the ability to conduct major life activities (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2018). Mental health disorders have led to significant human, societal, and financial impacts in the United States. For example, depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and obsessivecompulsive disorder are among the top causes for disability in the United States (Johns Hopkins University, 2021). Serious mental illness alone accounts for nearly 200 billion dollars in lost earnings per year (CDC, 2018). Indeed, most people who die by suicide have a diagnosable mental health disorder (Johns Hopkins University, 2021). Persons with severe mental health disorders die on average up to 25 years earlier than others (CDC, 2018). Treatment for depression is not one-size-fits-all and will often include a trial-anderror process. The American Psychiatric Association guidelines for the treatment of depression recommend the use of psychotherapy with a common antidepressant for firstline therapy (Mithawala & Davis, 2020). In contrast, the Veterans Administration/Department of Defense (VA/DoD) guidelines recommend psychotherapy, either CBT, Interpersonal therapy, or solution-focused therapy, as initial treatment for clients with MDD before moving to the prescription of antidepressant medication (Mithawala & Davis, 2020). For those clients who show insufficient progress in medication or therapy options, ECT and vagus nerve stimulation are also possible treatment options (Mithawala & Davis, 2020). Ultimately, treatments should be highly individualized, and providers should proceed with patience in working with clients with MDD and should provide an abundance of client education on treatment options (Mithawala & Davis, 2020).

TRD is defined as the failure to respond to two or more trials of medication of an adequate dose and duration (Zhdanava et al., 2021). The estimated 12-month prevalence of MDD is 8.9 million adults, with 2.8 million (30.9%) qualifying for TRD. TRD imposes a national cost in the United States. Zhdanava et al. found that the total incremental burden by adults with medication treated MDD was 92.17 billion dollars, 49.1% in health care costs, 31.1% in productivity costs, and 19.8% in unemployment costs. Adults with TRD account for 43.8 billion or 47.2% of these incremental costs (Zhdanava et al., 2021). TRD is associated with significant and disproportionate health

care costs and implications for productivity at work and unemployment (Zhdanava et al., 2021).

Most studies on ketamine and KAP focus on the inclusion of subjects diagnosed with depression or anxiety (Hyde, 2015). While many clients suffer from comorbid psychiatric diagnoses in the natural world, most randomized trials exclude clients with more than one illness (Hyde, 2015). Hyde reviewed the current research which has been conducted providing evidence of ketamine's efficacy with other diagnoses, including autism, generalized anxiety disorder, social anxiety, PTSD, suicidal thinking, substance use, eating disorders, BPD, and depression with psychosis. Hyde helped elucidate evidence of other diagnoses that may benefit from ketamine treatment, not just TRD. Due to the commonality of depression and the problem of TRD, I have chosen to delimit this study to clients diagnosed with depression. This is due to the estimated 12-month prevalence of MDD being 8.9 million adults and 2.8 million (30.9%) of those diagnosed, qualifying for TRD (Zhdanava et al., 2021).

## Ketamine

Ketamine has been acclaimed as one of the most novel discoveries in the treatment of depression in recent decades. Several studies have demonstrated rapid responses to its antidepressant effects in MDD as well as in treatment-resistant cases (Berman et al., 2000; Blier & Blier, 2016; DiazGranados et al., 2010; Griffiths et al., 2021; Phillips et al., 2019). It has gained in popularity over the last two decades with an initial report in 2000 investigating the treatment effects of the drug for depression (Berman et al., 2000).

In this placebo-controlled, double-blind study, Berman et al. (2000) tested the treatment effects of ketamine via infusion in clients with depression. The researchers found that clients in the treatment conditions experienced significant reductions in self-reported scores of depressed mood (paired *t* test, p=.0025), suicidality (p = .02), helplessness (p = .008), and worthlessness (p = .015) which were sustained for several days after infusions. Since Berman et al.'s study, hundreds of articles have been published testing ketamine's efficacy in treating mental health diagnoses (Marcantoni et al., 2020).

Several researchers have reported rapid therapeutic effects in ketamine especially for TRD (Berman et al., 2000; Blier & Blier, 2016; Griffiths et al., 2021; Phillips et al., 2019). Phillips et al. (2021) conducted a randomized double-blind crossover comparison of single infusions of ketamine and a placebo control to 41 clients diagnosed with TRD. After six weeks, clients received six ketamine infusions three times over a 2-week period. Those clients who demonstrated at least a 50% decrease in depressive scores from the MADRS scale, received four additional infusions administered once weekly (Phillips et al., 2021). These rapid effects, which ketamine has on the body in influencing depressive symptoms, sheds new light on the mechanisms in depression and paves a way for new discussion on the genesis of and psychopathology of depression, as well as the possible treatment avenues.

Limited evidence has been elucidated regarding the long-term effects of ketamine. Murrough et al. (2013) conducted a quantitative study with 24 subjects who were provided up to six IV infusions of ketamine three times weekly over a 12-day period. Murrough et al. recorded patient responses up to 83 days post the last infusion. The researchers noted a large mean decrease in depression scores and a median time to relapse after the last infusion was 18 days (Murrough et al., 2013).

The scope of this study includes adults only, but it is important to note that ketamine clinics across the United States are also providing ketamine to adolescent clients for the treatment of TRD, as innovative treatments for this population are urgently needed (Cullen et al., 2018). Cullen et al. conducted an analysis on 13 adolescent participants with ages ranging from 14.5-18.8 years old and 8 biologically male. The average decrease in depression ratings as indicated by the Children's Depression Rating Scale-Revised (CDRS-R) was 42.5% (p = 0.0004) (Cullen et al., 2018). These results demonstrate the potential role of ketamine in the treatment of TRD in adolescents, specifically for youth who report suicidality (Cullen et al., 2018). Suicide is the second leading cause of death in youth ages 10-34, further demonstrating the need for novel treatments in this population (NIMH, 2021).

#### **Ketamine: Mechanisms of Action**

Ketamine appears to have a mechanism of action which is separate from other conventional antidepressant medications (Moghaddam, 2020). Ketamine itself has the ability to manipulate several proteins and receptors in the brain (Matveychuk et al., 2020; Moghaddam, 2020). One of the receptors for which ketamine acts is for the neurotransmitter glutamate, but the highest affinity for which ketamine acts is on the N-Methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor (Moghaddam, 2020). Ketamine selectively acts on receptors which are engaged in certain functions, but leaves others alone (Moghaddam, 2020). Ketamine works by blocking the excitatory action of the NMDA receptor when it is activated, which in high doses of ketamine, may lead to silencing of NMDA neuronal activity (Moghaddam, 2020). When ketamine is administered in smaller doses, it increases brain activity by allowing negatively charged ions into the neuron; ketamine creates an interplay of excitation and inhibition, from which ketamine in low doses has an antidepressant effect (Moghaddam, 2020). Ketamine works also on acetylcholine, opioid, and estrogen receptors, but surprisingly, does not have high affinity to serotonin or dopamine receptors, unlike its antidepressant medication counterparts (Moghaddam, 2020). Matveychuk et al. (2021) noted the existence of neuroanatomical biomarkers of response to ketamine especially on the prefrontal cortex (PFC), hippocampus, and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) areas in the brain.

#### **Guidelines for Ketamine Off-Label Use for Mental Health Disorders**

As stated previously, medical providers have autonomy to determine whether offlabel use of ketamine in the form of infusion, oral, intramuscular, or other method of administration is warranted for treatment of various conditions including mental health disorders. The American Psychiatric Association Council of Research Task Force on Novel Biomarkers and Treatments issued an article discussing the guidelines for off-label use of ketamine in the treatment of mental health disorders (Sanacora et al., 2017). Sanacora et al. recommended several components to the evaluation of clients for ketamine treatment; these include comprehensive diagnostic assessment, assessment of baseline severity, history of antidepressant treatment, decision-making on the specific physical examinations according to established guidelines depending on individual clinical characteristics of the client, review of medical and psychiatric records, and informed consent.

The American Psychiatric Nurse Association (APNA) advises that ketamine should not be used for initial psychiatric treatment and should only be considered after failure of standard psychotherapy treatment or antidepressant trials (2022). Ketamine therapy exclusions include active substance abuse, history of psychosis, current pregnancy, history of increased intracranial pressure, uncontrolled hypertension, unstable cardiovascular disease, or a previous negative response to ketamine (APNA, 2022). There were no current published guidelines outlining the specific training requirements for clinicians administering ketamine at the time of this study (Sanacora et al., 2017). Most clinical trials have documented the ketamine dose administration of 0.5mg/kg per 40 minute IV, consistent with the original report by Berman et al. in 2000 (Sanacora et al., 2017).

The standard operating procedure throughout the ketamine infusion duration should include frequent assessment of the client's mental and physical state, such as respiratory status, blood pressure, heart rate, and consciousness, or other method for assessing responsiveness (Sanacora et al., 2017). The treatment setting should be such that the provider may sufficiently monitor the client to be able to provide immediate care if necessary. Nurses such as psychiatric mental health advanced practice nurses (APRNs) and psychiatric-mental health RNs, and certified registered nurse anesthetists (CRNAs) are working in collaboration with physicians, most notably anesthesiologists, to provide ketamine therapy services in a clinic setting for the treatment of chronic mental health disorders (APNA, 2021). Most clinics utilize a 2–3-week course of ketamine delivered 2-3 times per week, with a total of six ketamine infusions per cycle (Sanacora et al., 2017). Clients may opt for additional infusions, considered *boosters*, which may occur every 1-2 months or longer following the initial six infusion cycle, but the recommendation for booster varies, based on client self-report of depression severity and discretion of ketamine provider (InnovativeKetamine.com, 2021).

## **Ketamine-Assisted Psychotherapy**

The dissociative quality of ketamine provides an "extraordinary opportunity" for accompanying psychotherapy (KAP; Wolfson & Hatelius, 2016; p. 340). KAP softens the psychological defenses, liberates the mind from depressive mood states, obsession, and fear, and is helpful in reducing the severity of responses to recollection of traumatic events in one's life (Wolfson & Hatelius, 2016). KAP protocol has been developing and evolving since roughly 2013, and experts have not yet arrived at a consensus for procedures and protocol (Dore et al., 2019). Over time however, analysis of available data, especially from patient self-report measures, have contributed to the continued development of protocol for KAP (Dore et al., 2019).

Dore et al. (2019) conducted the first analytic study on KAP. I have confirmed via personal communication that the ketamine clinic uses similar protocol and screening procedures as is used by Dore et al. for KAP. Dore et al. presented the stages as preparation, administration, and integration in KAP. Preparation includes the anesthesiologist/nurse administering various tests to the patient such as blood work, height, and weight. The patient also signs consent forms. Administration phase involves the patient sitting or lying down for the IM, IV, or other route of administration of ketamine; music may be played at this time (Dore et al., 2019). Integration phase takes place during or after the administration of ketamine with a licensed professional counselor or therapist who uses a particular theoretical orientation such as: CBT, ACT, DBT, EFT, or another orientation. The content of KAP is similar to an outpatient therapy session; the therapist focuses on the client experience of the session, current and past struggles, anxiety, depression, or other mental health problem.

As seen in Figure one below, there are three phases, the first two are shared with the protocol for clients who receive ketamine infusions only.

# Figure 1.

Ketamine Infusion Only	Ketamine-Assisted Psychotherapy
<ul> <li>Self-select for treatment.</li> <li>Meet with anesthesiologist/Nurse to determine appropriateness to treatment.</li> <li>Informed consent.</li> <li>Mental/physical health history.</li> <li>PHQ-9 administration.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ation</li> <li>Self-select for treatment.</li> <li>Meet with anesthesiologist/Nurse to determine appropriateness to treatment.</li> <li>Informed consent.</li> <li>Mental/physical health history.</li> <li>PHQ-9 administration.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Intravenous ketamine sessions take place in office, setting includes low light, soft music. Client reclines in chair and may opt for eye covering.</li> <li>Anesthesiologist administers dose to client based on body mass index and adjusted to reach dissociation.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intravenous ketamine sessions take place in office, setting includes low light, soft music. Client reclines in chair and may opt for eye covering.</li> <li>Anesthesiologist administers dose to client based on body mass index and adjusted to reach dissociation.</li> <li>The anesthesiologist checks in on client throughout infusion to ensure they reach dissociation and are not in distress mentally or physically.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>The anesthesiologist checks in on client throughout infusion to ensure they reach dissociation and are not in distress mentally or physically.</li> <li>After administration, client's family member drives client home.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Therapy session may occur during or after infusion.</li> <li>Integration phase occurs with a licensed professional counselor or therapist who uses a particular theoretical orientation.</li> <li>The therapist focuses on the client experience of the session, current and past struggles, anxiety, depression, or other mental health problem.</li> <li>After therapy session, client's family member drives client home.</li> </ul>

Protocol for Ketamine Infusion Only vs. Ketamine-Assisted Psychotherapy

KAP is performed with the goal of assisting the client in alleviating the debilitating depression they are experiencing. The formats of KAP may often include processing past and current traumas, as ketamine works by reducing the client's emotional resistance and lessening defensiveness (Wolfson, 2016). Other procedures and goals for KAP may include assisting the client in experiencing a new, compassionate, open, and creative connection to the self (Wolfson, 2016). Psychotherapeutic tools and techniques used may be diverse, such as exposure or CBT, but all KAP should be supportive in nature with interpersonal warmth, trust, natural belief in healing, and positive regard to help clients feel safe and secure (Becker, 2016).

Becker (2016) discussed how the mechanisms of ketamine in the brain and the conscious effects of the drug produce themes outlining phenomenological and meaningful experiences for subjects. The transpersonal nature of KAP often highlights themes such as out-of-body experience, awareness of becoming a nonphysical being, emotionally intense visions, feelings of ego dissolution, visitations to mythological realms of consciousness, reexperiencing birth process, and a feeling of cosmic unity with the universe or God (Becker, 2016). Other themes gleaned from in-depth analysis of interviews include dissociation, relaxation, heightened sensory perception, uplifted mood, feeling like 'true self', renewed motivation, communicating with others, increase in positive thoughts, reduction in SI, and life changing impact (Griffiths et al., 2021). In a qualitative and quantitative KAP study by Summer et al. (2021) themes included loss of control, perceptual changes, emotional and mood changes, changes to perspective on life and problems and depression.

The first study demonstrating KAP's effectiveness within an analytic framework was conducted by Dore et al. in 2019. Dore et al. conducted pre and post surveys using the Beck Depression Inventory, Hamilton Anxiety Scale, Patient Health Questionnaire, Childhood Resilience Scale, and Adverse Childhood Event Score for 235 clients of three distinct practices which use similar ketamine and KAP practices. Dore et al. suggested that KAP demonstrated significant decreases in anxiety and depression as seen in the surveys, and number of sessions was positively correlated with improvements in depression scales. These findings were true especially for clients with significant symptom burden and for older clients (Dore et al., 2019).

While there are limited published studies to demonstrate KAP's effectiveness using large sample sizes, case studies and studies using smaller sample sizes are available. Halstead et al. (2021) conducted a case study report on the results of utilizing KAP for a child diagnosed with treatment-resistant PTSD as a result of experiences of racism and sexual abuse. The ketamine infusions paired with psychotherapy led to a decrease in symptoms which was maintained over the course of four months. Summer et al. (2021) provided a qualitative and quantitative analysis on KAP. Thirty-two clients diagnosed with MDD were administered ketamine infusions in a crossover design with an active placebo. Clients' experiences were measured using the MADRS and altered states of consciousness questionnaire. Summer et al. found that reduction in depression on the MADRS is correlated with the altered states of consciousness survey. While Dore et al., (2019), Halstead et al., and Summer et al., demonstrated positive treatment responses to KAP, Griffiths et al. (2021) found that some clients did not experience antidepressant effects.

In this literature review, I focused on research surrounding ketamine, KAP, and depression. The research on KAP is limited, and to date only one study (Dore et al., 2019) has been conducted using an analytic framework with over 235 subjects. This study yielded positive outcomes for KAP in alleviating symptoms of MDD. Other studies on KAP included in this literature review focused on the protocol, potential benefits, and mechanisms of action which may contribute to positive treatment effects. The literature on ketamine infusions indicates alleviation of depressive symptoms when there are several infusions (usually six in a cycle occurring over 2-3 weeks) and this effect was sustained for several weeks.

#### **Summary and Conclusions**

Major themes in the literature include the content, nature, and experiences of subjects who are undergoing KAP. The procedures of KAP are various and can include components of structure-based treatments such as CBT, as well as treatments focusing on meaning making and spiritual enlightenment such as transpersonal counseling. Themes include out-of-body experiences, emotionally visual experiences, mythological visions, and cosmic unity. Despite the reported positive effects, only one study exists in the professional literature which validates the use of KAP in treatment of MDD through use of a quantitative analysis.

There is very little evidence on the efficacy of KAP in the treatment of depression. Additionally, limited research has been conducted exploring the sustained

positive effects of ketamine. These findings elucidate the problem posed; practitioners across the United States are providing KAP without adequate evidence supporting its efficacy; this contrasts with the ACA *Code of Ethics* which advises counselors to use empirically supported treatments or theories for mental health conditions (C.7.a.; ACA, 2014).

#### Chapter 3: Research Methods

## Introduction

The purpose of this quasi-experimental quantitative study is to determine if there was a statistically significant difference in changes in depression from baseline to immediately following treatment as measured by the PHQ-9, among clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving KAP. The major sections of this chapter include an explanation of the research design and rationale, methodology, data analysis plan, threats to internal and external validity, and ethical procedures.

## **Research Design and Rationale**

The independent variable in this study is the presence of ketamine infusion with or without KAP. The dependent variable is the PHQ-9 scores at intake, immediately following the sixth (final) ketamine infusion, and one month following the last ketamine infusion. I plan to control for baseline depression severity as a covariate. The research design for this study includes the quasi-experimental design. This design is appropriate to answer the research questions as the purpose is to evaluate the effectiveness of ketamine infusion and KAP without the use of randomization. As a part of the standard practices of the participating clinic, the ketamine providers collected these data in its naturalistic setting. It was not possible to conduct this study using randomization as clients elected to this treatment. I used their subjective scores for the proposed analysis. KAP protocol is continually developing, especially from analysis of research using client self-report measures (Dore et al., 2019). The purpose of this quasi-experimental retrospective analysis is to analyze client self-report measures of depression severity as indicated on the PHQ-9. This is a quasi-experimental design as I am comparing the treatment of two different treatment groups without the use of randomization. I used archival data from a ketamine clinic which treats clients struggling with depression.

## Methodology

## Population

I used archival data from a ketamine clinic located in the southeastern United States for this study. The population included were clients who have been diagnosed with MDD receiving outpatient treatment for depression. Clients who were provided ketamine infusions agreed that they had received two rounds of antidepressant medications at sufficient dose and duration with no treatment success. The sample included 73 subjects. The target population included adult clients who were 18 years and older at the time of ketamine infusions. I included clients who sought out and elected for ketamine or KAP on their own volition. There were no recruiting procedures, as I used archival sampling methods. As previously mentioned, the clinic does not collect data on race/ethnicity; this is a proposed limitation of this study.

#### **Sampling and Sampling Procedures**

The sampling method was nonprobabilistic and the specific subcategory includes subjective or judgmental sampling, wherein archival data was chosen and analyzed based on the inclusion criteria for the study. The inclusion criteria were identified as data indicating infusions alone or KAP, a PHQ-9 baseline score and at least one additional PHQ-9 score (i.e., end of treatment or one month follow-up), and a diagnosis of MDD.

The strengths of this sampling method and subcategory included the researcher's ability to select clients based on meeting inclusion criteria and excluding clients who did not meet criteria. Other strengths included the ease with which the sample was collected and that it essentially consumed minimal time for collection. Disadvantages of this sampling method were that due to this method not being random from the population, inferences from the analysis only applied to the specific group being studied, and that this process may be more prone to researcher bias. It may be viewed as being a threat to generalizability when being applied to large population groups.

I collected this sample by use of archival data from a ketamine clinic. The ketamine clinic collected and stored client data on Osmind.org, a website and app which collects and tracks client mood and PHQ-9 scores, among other mental health assessments. This clinic entered into a data use agreement with me as the researcher for this study which provided access to clients' scores via a deidentified dataset. The inclusion criteria for data in this study included those clients who are over 18 years of age at the time of ketamine infusion, and those who were diagnosed with MDD. Exclusion criteria included those clients who had not received at least six ketamine infusions.

As this was an archival analysis, I did not have control over the sample size (see Aberson, 2015). A commonly used standard for sociological research is to use .80 for power, which I used for this analysis (Aberson, 2015). The *a priori* level I have set for this study is the commonly accepted .05 level (Aberson, 2015). A large study by Cuijpers et al. (2014) compared the effects of antidepressant medications alone and antidepressant medications combined with psychotherapy used a confidence interval of 95% and moderate effect size for Hedges g at .43 in favor of the combined treatment.

In their study on power analyses for ANCOVA designs, Shieh (2019) found that the minimum sample size to run a repeated measures ANCOVA comparison of two groups was 48, which will require at least 24 clients per client group. This estimate used moderate effect sizes. Based on Shieh's article, I used a minimum of 24 clients in each treatment group, namely, clients who were provided ketamine infusion alone versus clients who were provided ketamine infusions with assisted psychotherapy.

#### **Procedures for Recruitment and Participation of Archival Data**

For the study sample, I included clients who sought out and elected for ketamine or KAP on their own volition. There were no recruiting procedures, as I used archival sampling methods. The demographic information I collected included age of the client, diagnosis, diagnosed by whom, DOB, gender, referral source, past medical history, whether client received KAP, the dates of each of the six infusions, and the dates of boosters, as well as any medications the client was currently taking. The information I collected is from the ketamine clinic via a deidentified dataset, from which clients provided informed consent for services.

The ketamine clinic offered its clients the option to enroll in an online and appbased software which sends daily mood subjective scoring, as well as weekly reminders to fill out PHQ-9 assessments. The app provided a graph displaying the client's mood changes throughout their treatment. Should the client decline continuing with infusions, the ketamine providers reach out via telephone to provide support, resources, and referrals per client request. The client was advised that a full ketamine treatment cycle includes six infusions over the course of 2-3 weeks, but clients can opt out of further infusions if necessary or requested. I only included clients who have completed six infusions, as most clinics utilize a 2–3-week course of ketamine delivered 2-3 times per week, with a total of six ketamine infusions per cycle (Sanacora et al., 2017).

## **Procedures for Gaining Access to Archival Data**

I used archival data taken from a ketamine clinic for this study. I used data which came from clients of the ketamine clinic who have been referred by their primary care provider, therapist, another provider, or internet search. Clients' self-report data was collected by the ketamine clinic which offered clients to document PHQ-9 and subjective mood scores on an app which provided logging of these scores and a graph to illustrate client progress over the course of their treatment and beyond treatment. Clients could choose to opt out of logging their subjective mood and PHQ-9 scores and still participate in ketamine infusions and psychotherapy. I have access to the deidentified data set through a data use agreement with the ketamine clinic, which provided this dataset to me at the time of collection. The institutional review board approval number for this study is #07-14-22-0984650.

## Instrumentation

The instrument which the ketamine clinic used to measure depression severity was the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9). The PHQ-9 was developed in 1999 by Kurt Kroenke and his colleagues at Columbia University and was originally created to be a self-administered diagnostic screening for depression severity (Blackwell & McDermott, 2014). The questionnaire consists of nine items which assess for the symptoms of MDD as classified by the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (4<sup>th</sup> ed.; DSM-IV-TR; American Psychiatric Association [APA]), though it is still theoretically consistent with the fifth edition of the manual (Blackwell & McDermott, 2014). The total assessment takes roughly five minutes to be completed and can be administered repeatedly to reflect the decline in reported symptoms (Blackwell & McDermott, 2014). The PHQ-9 is available in public domain and freely downloadable; permission is not required to distribute or reproduce the PHQ-9 (Blackwell & McDermott, 2014).

The PHQ-9 was one of the assessment tools offered to the clients by the ketamine clinic as a method by which the client can report their current symptoms as well as view their previous scores and progress in treatment. The clients were offered to download the Osmind app which prompts the user to answer the PHQ-9 assessment questions as well as a daily subjective mood score.

The PHQ-9 is a valid and reliable measure for assessing depression severity (Sun et al., 2020). Sun et al. evaluated the validity and reliability of the PHQ-9 and found that the PHQ-9 scores have a high internal consistency and high test-retest coefficient after two weeks. The correlation coefficient between each item score and the total score of PHQ-9 indicated a strong correlation, ranging from .572 to .813 (Sun et al., 2020). Sun et al. concluded that the PHQ-9 is a rapid, effective, and reliable measure in screening the severity of depression.

Constantini et al. (2021) analyzed 42 articles from several dozen countries on the validity and reliability of the PHQ-9 in primary care settings in clients older than 12 years old, and articles ranging from 1995 to 2018. The overall sensitivity of the instrument ranged from 0.37 to 0.98, positive predictive value from .09 to .92 and negative predictive value from .8 to 1. Constantini et al. determined that the PHQ-9 is validated and recommended for use in a two-stage screening process for depression severity.

## **Operationalization of Constructs**

The key study variables included the independent variable: ketamine infusion with or without KAP. The dependent variable is PHQ-9 score at baseline and immediately following the sixth and final infusion. I included baseline depression severity as a covariate in this analysis.

KAP refers to a therapist, either licensed clinical social worker, licensed professional counselor, licensed marriage and family therapist or clinical psychologist or associate clinician providing therapeutic support as the client undergoes the ketamine infusion procedure. The content of KAP is similar to an outpatient therapy session; the therapist focuses on the client experience of the session, current and past struggles, anxiety, depression, or other mental health problem. KAP has been in clinical development for several years and a consensus on protocol and procedures is evolving (Dore et al., 2019). KAP is typically provided for one hour either during the infusion or for one hour following the infusion.

The American Psychiatric Nurses Association (APNA) provides considerations for ketamine providers. Ketamine treatment is recommended for adults with moderate to severe depression, and for clients who have no sustained change following adequate antidepressant trials, different medication combinations, and/or ECT or TMS trials (APNA, 2022). In addition, the APNA advises that clients have demonstrated no sustained change in CBT or individual psychotherapy to be eligible for infusions (APNA, 2022). The APNA suggests exclusions of ketamine infusion when clients are experiencing active substance abuse, pregnancy, uncontrolled hypertension, and cardiovascular disease. In addition, the APNA advises against providing ketamine to clients who have had history of psychosis, intracranial pressure, or history of negative response to ketamine. Ketamine infusions are administered to the client by an anesthesiologist or anesthetist nurse on site. Ketamine is administered in a dose of 0.5/mg/kg, but some patients respond to doses as low as 0.1 mg/kg and others require higher doses, such as up to 0.75mg/kg (Andrade, 2017). The infusion is typically administered over the course of 40 minutes, but safety and efficacy has been demonstrated in sessions ranging between 2 and 100 minutes (Andrade, 2017).

Baseline severity refers to the score of the outcome measure prior to treatment (Nunes et al., 2011). Covariation for baseline severity of the outcome measure should be considered for inclusion in studies which aim to contribute to literature on evidence-based treatment (Nunes et al., 2011). Baseline severity has been found to be strongly associated with outcome in studies (Nunes et al., 2011). There is no required baseline severity to qualify for a ketamine infusion, only diagnosis of MDD and failure to respond to at least two rounds of antidepressant medications of sufficient dose and time; this is considered TRD (Zhdanava et al., 2021).

*The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)* is a valid and reliable instrument for the assessment of depression severity. The PHQ-9 is sensitive to changes in depression over time points (Cameron et al., 2008; Lowe et al., 2004). For the purposes of this study, I will use the PHQ-9 scores at intake and immediately following the sixth, and final, infusion. The assessment tool has cut-offs for the severity of depression, including 5, 10, 15, 20 which represent classification points for mild, moderate, moderately severe, and severe depression, respectively (Inoue et al., 2012). The PHQ-9 provides the following instruction to the client: "Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by the following problems?" An example item has been provided below:

"Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless?"

Not at all = 0

Several Days: +1

More than half the days: +2

Nearly every day: +3

The scale of measurement for the PHQ-9 is ratio, because there is a proportionate interval between data points, with a true zero.

## **Client Selection**

At the clinic setting for this study, clients self-selected for ketamine infusion, and/or KAP. Some clients are referred by their primary care provider, therapist, friend or family member, or may have found the ketamine clinic via internet search. The ketamine clinic offers KAP to all clients who contact the clinic to be scheduled for infusions, clients self-select their preferred methods of treatment. Clients are required to have a mental health diagnosis from a licensed professional to be eligible for treatment. Clients must agree that they have received two rounds of antidepressant medications at sufficient dose and duration with no treatment success; this is considered TRD (Zhdanava et al., 2021).

#### **Ketamine Infusion and Ketamine-Assisted Psychotherapy Protocol**

Since roughly 2013, protocol for KAP has been developing and a consensus on procedures continues to develop and has not yet been established (Dore et al., 2019). However, for the purposes of this study, I used the stages of KAP including preparation, administration, and integration originally outlined by Dore et al. (2019). I have confirmed via personal communication that the ketamine clinic site for this study uses similar protocol as is used by Dore et al. for KAP. Preparation includes the anesthesiologist/nurse administering various tests to the patient such as blood work, height, and weight. The patient also signs consent forms. The administration phase involves the patient sitting or lying down for the ketamine infusion, music may be played at this time (Dore et al., 2019). The ketamine clinic adjusts the dose for the client to reach dissociation. In contrast to MAPS protocol for psychedelic-assisted psychotherapy which calls for PAP to occur during the administration of the medicine (Mithoefer, 2015), KAP sessions may occur during or after the ketamine infusion. The integration phase takes place with a licensed professional counselor or therapist who uses a particular theoretical orientation such as: CBT, ACT, DBT, EFT, or another orientation. The content of KAP is similar to an outpatient therapy session; the therapist focuses on the client experience of

the session, current and past struggles, anxiety, depression, or other mental health problem.

Ketamine infusion protocol includes the same preparation and administration stages as for KAP, however, there is no integration phase wherein the licensed clinician provides psychotherapy for the client. Following administration, the client is assessed for any markers of physical distress or instability and is driven home from the clinic by a friend or loved one. Clients undergo the same infusion dosage, duration, and frequency as clients who opt for assisted psychotherapy.

## Data Analysis Plan

The statistical software I used for this analysis is Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS). Before delving into the statistical analysis once the archival data has been entered into SPSS, I examined the quality of the data which I had collected for this analysis. One of the important considerations for data cleaning included looking for outliers in the data. For example, should the client indicate very mild or severe depression on the PHQ-9, at the initial intake, immediately following the last infusion, I investigated the extreme number in the data set (ACAPS, 2016).

Collecting or entering the data required repeated cycles of screening for lack of or excess of data or outliers, whether data were missing, or extreme records were present (ACAPS, 2016). I used two separate Excel sheets to maintain the original and edited the second excel sheet to monitor changes (ACAPS, 2016).

Missing data refers to answers which have been omitted by the client in the research (ACAPS, 2016). The most conservative course, and the one in which I took, was

to leave the data unchanged, accepting the missing data point as a valid response (ACAPS, 2016). I did not correct or change the data from the respondent, nor was I able to remeasure the respondent's answer, as I used archival data. Regarding PHQ-9 data, I used the method of excluding cases pairwise in SPSS. Inclusion criteria included indicating whether subjects received infusions alone or KAP, a PHQ-9 baseline score and at least one additional PHQ-9 score (i.e., end of treatment or one month follow-up), and a diagnosis of MDD.

## **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

The research questions and hypotheses were as follows:

RQ – Was there a statistically significant difference in change in depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, from baseline to end of sixth and final infusion, between clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving ketamine-assisted psychotherapy after controlling for baseline depression severity?

 $H_0$  - There was not a statistically significant difference in change in depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, from baseline to end of sixth and final infusion, between clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving ketamine-assisted psychotherapy after controlling for baseline depression severity.

 $H_a$  - There was a statistically significant difference in change in depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, from baseline to sixth and final infusion between clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving ketamine-assisted psychotherapy after controlling for baseline depression severity. I used Quade's Rank ANCOVA with repeated measures for this data analysis. The ANCOVA with repeated measures statistical test measures the mean of two or more variables based on repeated observations while controlling for a baseline covariate (Wan, 2019). The parametric ANCOVA is based on the assumption that the dependent and covariate is linear and the relationship between the dependent variable and the covariate does not differ across the conditions in the experiment (Schneider et al., 2015). In conducting an ANCOVA, it is assumed that the variables have distribution shapes which are close to normal, that the relationship between the variables are linear, and that the variance is homogenous across groups (Warner, 2013). ANCOVAs are also based on the assumption of no treatment by co-variate interaction or homogeneity of regression (Warner, 2013).

Once I had cleaned the data and sorted it in SPSS, I determined that the infusion only group scores were not evenly distributed, and therefore, I used Quade's Rank ANCOVA which is better suited for nonparametric statistical analyses. All other assumptions for this analysis including homogeneity of regression and variance were met. According to McSweeney and Porter who compared rank transformed ANCOVA to parametric ANCOVA, the rank transform approach was only slightly less powerful than the parametric ANCOVA design (1988). Furthermore, nonparametric tests for the same designs are generally more powerful than their parametric counterparts when parametric assumptions are violated (McSweeney & Porter, 1988).

I began by testing the assumptions and preliminary data screening included ensuring that all distributions were approximately normal with no extreme outliers and that all relations between pairs of variables and covariates are somewhat linear (Warner, 2013). I tested this by running basic data checks in SPSS including histograms and descriptive statistics to provide information on the frequency distribution and sample size. Then I ran regression analyses for the separate groups: those who have received ketamine infusions versus those who have received KAP. Finally, by running the ANCOVA in SPSS, I tested for the assumption of homogeneity of the dependent variable (Warner, 2013). As states previously, because assumptions of normal distribution of the ketamine infusion only group was violated, I changed the chosen statistical test to Quade's Rank ANCOVA to transform the original scores by replacing each observation in the dependent variable and covariate with its respective rank across all levels of the independent variable.

In ANCOVA designs, it is essential that the baseline score be adjusted, otherwise the estimated treatment effects may be skewed or biased (Clifton & Clifton, 2019). Extreme scores documented at baseline are much more likely to skew the results than lower baseline scores (Clifton & Clifton, 2019). To avoid bias in the treatment results, I included baseline as a covariate in this analysis.

#### **Threats to Validity**

As this was a retrospective study, data which I included in this study had been previously collected by the ketamine clinic. This study may have higher external validity than true experimental studies, due to its applicable nature to the natural world. Rather than the results being brought out of laboratory settings, clients opted into having ketamine infusions or KAP out of their own volition. In contrast to experimental design, a disadvantage of quasi-experimental design is the lack of randomization of clients and use of a control group. This limits the ability for the researcher to justify cause-and-effect conclusions from the study. However, quasiexperimental designs are being increasingly employed in research to achieve a greater balance between external and internal validity (Handley et al., 2018).

Considerations for external validity included sampling bias, history, and experimenter effects. The sample included clients with MDD who had completed six ketamine infusions. This would exclude the clients who had elected for ketamine infusions who have other mental health diagnoses, those who have completed less than six infusions, and those who were under 18 years of age at the time of ketamine infusion. As there were several therapists providing KAP, me included, the characteristics and effectiveness of each of the therapists may have affected the outcomes of the treatment and thus clients' responses to the PHQ-9. Controlling for individual counselor characteristics, including differences in effectiveness between theoretical orientations, was beyond the scope of this study.

As previously discussed, it is possible that other events which have occurred in the clients' lives may have affected the PHQ-9 scores, and it was therefore not plausible to say that all changes in PHQ-9 scores from baseline to immediately following the sixth and final infusion were due solely to the effects of ketamine infusions or KAP. The Hawthorne effect may have impacted the internal validity of this research. Defined as the change in subject responses or behavior consequent to awareness of being studied in research, the Hawthorne effect has been found to influence subject responses due to being observed and having behavior assessed (McCambridge et al., 2014). Clients become concerned about social desirability and researcher expectations and may change their responses on self-report measures (McCambridge et al., 2014). This was a proposed limitation associated with using self-report instruments in research.

## **Ethical Procedures and Considerations**

Due to the use of archival data for this study, the ethical concerns appeared to be minimal. The ketamine treatment center and I had entered into a data use agreement wherein I will be provided a deidentified data use agreement. Clients' data was collected by the ketamine clinic which offered the clients the option to document PHQ-9 and subjective mood scores on an app which provided logging of these scores and a graph to illustrate client progress over the course of their treatment and beyond treatment.

I had a dual role in the research, as I had likely provided KAP to some clients who had provided their PHQ-9 scores used for this research. I managed conflict of interest as I did not reveal my role as a researcher. I did not disclose to clients my hypothesis for this research project. The ketamine clinic released the dataset to me as the researcher, specifically for the purposes of archiving and analysis for this project.

I ensured client privacy by using a separate list of code-to-name matchups and using client codes to label the data which was collected. The agency attains written consent from each client prior to providing ketamine infusions. The identity of the ketamine clinic will not be disclosed for this project to further mask the identity of the clients. The data I exported into excel was deidentified and remained confidential. I stored data in an excel document on my computer, which I protected with a password, and access into the computer required a password. Only I as the researcher, and the Walden University faculty which were involved in this project viewed the raw data. As the researcher, I provided the results of the study to the ketamine clinic in a document between 1-2 pages in length. I plan to purge the excel sheet which contained the deidentified dataset information from my computer five years following IRB approval for this research project. I completed the necessary ethical training to conduct this archival analysis study. At the time of data collection and throughout, I fully accepted the responsibility for the ethical conduct of this research project and continue to be committed to protecting the human clients as required by state and federal law and regulations.

An important ethical consideration for this research was related to access to the ketamine infusions. Persons who live in a poor or low-income household have been linked to increased risk for mental health problems which can persist throughout the life span (Hodgkinson et al., 2017). Despite the need for mental health services, persons of lower socioeconomic status are least likely to be provided high-quality care (Hodgkinson et al., 2017). The *Access to Care* Data from Mental Health America (MHA) in 2018 reported 55.8% of adults with a mental illness did not receive mental health treatment, with access slowly improving from 59% in 2011. This figure represents the individuals who are reporting an unmet need for their mental health, who are seeking treatment and are facing barriers to getting the help needed (MHA, 2018). Systemic barriers to

accessing care were identified as: lack of insurance or adequate insurance, lack of available treatment types such as inpatient or individual therapy, lack of available providers, and insufficient finances to cover the costs of treatment (MHA, 2018). It is possible that lower socioeconomic status clients are unable to afford ketamine infusions, despite the need for adequate mental health treatment for this population. It is possible that fiscal privilege increases access to effective and innovative treatments.

## Summary

The purpose of this quantitative study was to determine if there was a statistically significant difference in changes in depression from baseline to the sixth and final infusion as measured by the PHQ-9, among clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving KAP. In this chapter, I described the research design and methodology. I discussed the specific procedures of conducting an archival data analysis and the subsequent statistical tests I ran as well as the alpha level, effect size, and minimum number of clients for this study to have determined valid inferences from the data. I also presented the threats to external and internal validity to this quasi-experimental design and addressed the ethical procedures necessary when conducting archival data analysis with human clients. In the next chapter of this dissertation, I will present the findings of this research.

## Chapter 4: Results

## Introduction

The purpose of this quasi-experimental quantitative study was to determine if there is a statistically significant difference in changes in depression from baseline to immediately following treatment as measured by the PHQ-9, among clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving KAP. For the first phase, I conducted a Quade's Rank ANCOVA analysis to examine the differences of the mean values of the dependent variable (follow-up PHQ-9 score) while controlling for baseline (initial score), between clients who received ketamine infusion alone, versus those who have received KAP.

In the second phase of this analysis, I conducted a paired samples *t* test to examine the effects of each treatment group more closely from baseline to follow up. In this chapter, I list and discuss the data collection procedures, assumptions, and results of the statistical analysis. The research question and hypotheses for this study are as follows:

RQ – Is there a statistically significant difference in change in depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, from baseline to end of treatment, between clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving ketamine-assisted psychotherapy after controlling for baseline depression severity?

 $H_0$  - There is not a statistically significant difference in change in depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, from baseline to end of treatment, between clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving ketamine-assisted psychotherapy after controlling for baseline depression severity.
$H_a$  - There is a statistically significant difference in change in depression, as measured by the PHQ-9, from baseline to end of treatment, between clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving ketamine-assisted psychotherapy after controlling for baseline depression severity.

### **Data Collection**

The private practice clinic provided a deidentified list of the clients who have received KAP and the dates and times of the appointments. The ketamine clinic provided a deidentified dataset which included all the clients who have received ketamine infusions, some demographic information including gender, date of birth, and diagnosis. I then matched the subjects based on date and time of the ketamine infusion with the clinic, and KAP with the private practice, between the two datasets. Unfortunately, the ketamine clinic and private practice did not list race and ethnicity as a variable when the dataset was provided; the clinic does not routinely collect these demographic variables and therefore were unavailable for this analysis. Other information which I included in the dataset from the ketamine clinic were: date and time of ketamine infusions and dates and scores on PHQ-9 assessments.

I examined an initial dataset from the ketamine clinic in June 2021 and a second up-to-date dataset in August 2022 (including all the data which the clinic has collected since its inception in May 2020), which yielded a total of 354 subjects. Out of 354 subjects, 228 did not provide at least one PHQ-9 score, therefore 126 have provided at least two scores on the PHQ-9 assessment. Out of the 126 subjects, nine subjects were excluded for not receiving a full cycle of six ketamine infusions, 16 were excluded for not having an MDD diagnosis on file, 28 were excluded as they did not have a baseline PHQ-9 score recorded before receiving the infusion. Seventy-three subject cases remained after data cleaning which had both baseline and immediately following sixth infusion PHQ-9 scores. I compared these 73 cases which met the criteria for inclusion in this study with the deidentified dataset from the private practice which provides KAP, and matched 24 cases that had psychotherapy in the hour concurrently or immediately following each infusion.

Unfortunately, 18 subjects out of the 73 did not provide one month follow-up scores. My initial research question included analyzing changes in depression severity from baseline, immediately following treatment, to one month follow-up between infusion only and KAP groups. To meet the minimum sample size to conduct an ANCOVA of at least 24 subjects per group (Shieh et al., 2019), I excluded the one-month follow-up scores.

Out of the 73 cases, 24 subjects have received KAP, and 49 have received ketamine infusions only. The age range is 18 to 69, with a mean age of 40.51. The total sample is 37% male, 60.3% female. One subject was transgender male (1.4%) and one subject was transgender female (1.4%).

I consolidated the datasets based on time and date of ketamine infusion and KAP sessions and transferred the dataset into SPSS with numbers assigned to each subject. I began the data cleaning processing including checking for numbers outside the norm for age or outside the range of values in the PHQ-9. I coded sex of subject as male =1, female =2, transgender male =3, transgender female =4. I ensured that minimum and

maximum values were within the possible range on each variable. I ensured that no missing cases exist in the dataset.

A total of three therapists provided KAP to the 24 subjects and were assigned to each subject on the deidentified dataset. One therapist is a 40-year-old male; he is a doctoral level licensed professional counselor with five years of post-licensure experience. The other two therapists who provided KAP in this study had a CBT orientation to treatment. One therapist is a female, pre-licensed social worker with two years of post-graduate counseling experience. The third therapist and author of this study is a female and had less than one year of post-licensure counseling experience as a professional counselor at the time of data collection.

### Assumptions

I began by testing the assumptions for an ANCOVA design but found that an assumption was not met. I began by checking the linearity of the relationship between the dependent variable and the covariate. I ran the Shapiro-Wilk test which I found to be significant for the infusion only group (p=.018) and not significant for the KAP group. Thus, the assumption of linearity was violated. The skewness level for the infusion only group and the KAP group was .334 and .478, respectively. The kurtosis levels for the infusion only group and the KAP group was .668 and .918 respectively. Thus, skewness and kurtosis indicated normality. Other assumptions for ANCOVA design include the assumption of no treatment by covariate interaction that is required to meet homogeneity of regression slopes assumption; this appeared to be satisfied as I found it to be not significant at .159. Homogeneity of variances assumption is above .05 at .73 for baseline

and follow up is .186. Therefore, assumptions for homogeneity of variance and homogeneity of regression slopes were met. However, since the data for the infusion only group is not linear, I was justified in using nonparametric statistics.

According to Harwell and Serlin (1988), nonparametric ANCOVA models such as Quade's Rank ANCOVA is an alternative to parametric ANCOVA designs. Quade's Rank ANCOVA involves transformation of the original scores by replacing each observation in the dependent variable and covariate with its respective rank across all levels of the independent variable when one or more of the assumptions for a parametric ANCOVA design are not met (Harwell & Serlin, 1988). In Quade's Rank ANCOVA design, the procedures include separate transformations of the covariate (baseline PHQ-9) and dependent variable (follow up PHQ-9), substituting ranks instead of the original observations across treatment groups (Olejnik & Algina, 1984). The ranked data is then analyzed using the same procedures as used with a parametric ANCOVA (Olejnik & Algina, 1984). According to McSweeney and Porter (1988), who compared rank transformed ANCOVA to parametric ANCOVA, the rank transform approach was only slightly less powerful than the parametric ANCOVA design. Furthermore, nonparametric tests for the same designs are generally more powerful than their parametric counterparts when parametric assumptions are violated (McSweeney & Porter, 1988).

## **Quade's Rank ANCOVA Results**

I conducted a quasi-experimental study to determine statistically significant differences between KAP and ketamine infusion alone on PHQ-9 depression severity scores at follow up while controlling for baseline score. There was not a significant difference between the KAP group and infusion only group on follow up PHQ-9 score after controlling for baseline score, F(1,71) = 3.433, p = .068.

# **Paired Samples T Test Results**

As a posthoc analysis, I conducted a paired-samples *t* test to compare PHQ-9 scores at baseline and follow up for subjects who received KAP and those who received ketamine infusions alone. For both treatment groups together (73 clients), there was a significant difference in the scores for the KAP and infusion only groups together at baseline (M= 17.71, SD= 5.638) to follow up scores (M= 7.89, SD=5.451), t(72)=16.325, p = >.001. The effect size was d = 1.770873.

# Table 1

			95% CI for mean difference			
t	df	р	Mean Difference	Lower	Upper	Cohen's d
16.325	72	<.001	9.822	8.623	11.021	1.7708

Paired Samples T Test

Because I noticed a large difference between the pre and post scores between the two groups, I conducted a paired samples t-test to compare PHQ-9 scores at baseline and follow up for subjects who received KAP alone. Out of 24 clients, there was a significant difference in scores from baseline (M=16.17, SD= 5.322) to the follow up scores (m= 8.08, SD=4.643), t(23)=8.529, p=>.001. The effect size was d = 1.619.

I conducted a paired samples t-test to compare PHQ-9 scores at baseline and follow up for subjects who received ketamine infusions alone. Out of 49 clients, there

was a significant difference in scores from baseline (M=18.47, SD= 5.687) to the follow up scores (m= 7.80, SD=5.849), t(48)= 14.363, p= >.001. The effect size was d= 1.849.

# Summary

In summary, according to a nonparametric Quade's Rank ANCOVA analysis, there was not a statistically significant difference in PHQ-9 depression severity scores between subjects who received ketamine infusions alone and those who received KAP between baseline initial intake and immediately following final infusion. However, results from a paired samples t-test indicated that KAP and ketamine infusion only groups are both statistically significant in reducing depression severity according to the PHQ-9 from intake to immediately following treatment. In Chapter 5, I provide interpretation of my findings in relation the existing research literature and within the context of the Common Factors theoretical framework. I also discuss limitations of this study, recommendations for continued research in ketamine treatment, and social change implications. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, Recommendations

# Introduction

The purpose of this retrospective quasi-experimental study was to determine if there is a statistically significant difference in changes in depression from baseline to immediately following treatment among clients receiving ketamine infusions compared to clients receiving KAP. In this quantitative analysis, I used archival sampling methods to examine PHQ-9 depression severity among subjects diagnosed with MDD who are receiving ketamine infusions or KAP. In this chapter, I describe the findings as well as relate them to existing literature on ketamine and KAP for MDD. I discuss the findings within the context of the common factors which was the conceptual framework for this study. I also discuss the limitations, recommendations for future research on this topic, and social change implications.

The key findings of this quantitative, retrospective study indicated that there was no statistically significant difference as measured by the PHQ-9 depression severity measure, between subjects who have received ketamine infusion vs. KAP, from baseline to end of treatment. There were significant changes from intake to end of treatment according to the paired samples t-test for both groups individually, yielding effect sizes of d = 1.6 and d = 1.8 for KAP group and ketamine infusion only group, respectively.

## **Interpretation of the Findings**

Interest in ketamine and KAP as treatments for mental health conditions has increased dramatically from 2010 to 2020 (Walsh et al., 2022). Recent FDA approval of ketamine in the form of a nasal spray in 2019 and the broader reemergence of psychedelic medicines as demonstrated by FDA trials for psilocybin and MDMA demonstrate the accelerating interest in psychedelics as healing medicines for mental health disorders (Walsh, 2022). However, differences in the effectiveness of ketamine infusion alone vs. KAP had not been investigated prior to this study.

The key findings of this quantitative and retrospective analysis are that there was no statistically significant difference as measured by the PHQ-9 depression severity measure, between subjects who have received ketamine infusion vs. KAP, from baseline to end of treatment. According to my findings from a paired samples t-test, there were significant reductions in depression severity from intake to end of treatment for both infusion alone and KAP groups, yielding effect sizes of d = 1.6 and d = 1.8 for KAP group and ketamine infusion only group, respectively. The findings of the current study indicated that while ketamine and KAP are highly effective treatments for MDD, there was no significant difference in effectiveness when compared to one another.

There has been limited research on the combination of intravenous ketamine (pharmacotherapy) and psychotherapy with the first analytic study performed in 2019 by Dore et al., which yielded statistically significant reduction in depressive symptoms. While there are several qualitative studies demonstrating the subjective benefits of KAP on perceived depression reduction and improved quality of life (Becker et al., 2016; Griffiths et al., 2021; Halstead et al., 2021; Summer et al., 2021), through the paired samples *t* tests, I found that intravenous ketamine and KAP each provide statistically significant reductions in depression from baseline to follow up. This study extends knowledge for the counseling field by using quantitative methods to analyze reductions in depression severity from KAP which have been highlighted in the qualitative literature (Becker et al., 2016; Griffiths et al., 2021; Halstead et al., 2021; Summer et al., 2021) but very minimally in the quantitative literature (Dore et al., 2019).

The conceptual framework for this study was common factors. The common factors framework emphasizes the importance of commonalities among therapy treatment orientations in effecting positive change in clients' lives (Duncan, 2002). Rather than crediting specific techniques or tools that are beneficial in treating mental health disorders, thus emphasizing the differences between theoretical orientations to treatment, the common factors approach recognizes various commonalities among approaches as responsible for therapeutic success (Duncan, 2002). For example, Rogers (1957) identified the central tenets of psychotherapy as *unconditional positive regard, empathy*, and *honesty* (Rogers, 1957), while Jerome Frank (1983) identified the tenets as: *an emotionally charged confiding relationship, a healing setting, a rationale, a procedure requiring active participation in client and therapist with the understanding that it will be used to restore the client's health.* 

The average decrease in depression severity for the KAP group was not statistically significant when compared to the ketamine infusion only group. Therefore, in this study, aspects of the therapeutic relationship within KAP as highlighted by the common factors approach did not contribute to a significantly different outcome as compared to the group of clients who did not receive therapeutic support. In sum, the relationship did not make a significant difference in depression severity reduction from baseline to follow-up. This finding is contrary to current literature which supports the use of psychopharmacology and psychotherapeutic interventions combined as yielding superior outcomes than each intervention alone (Kamenov et al., 2017; Karyotaki et al., 2017, Blais et al., 2013).

However, as stated previously, both groups demonstrated statistically significant changes in depression severity as compared to baseline at intake. These findings are consistent with other findings in the literature, that highlight the effectiveness of ketamine infusions and KAP treatments and will help guide the integration of this treatment into therapeutic and psychiatric practice. Further research is needed to determine whether there is value in psychotherapy added to the infusion experience.

### Limitations of the Study

There were several limitations to this study. In this study, I used nonprobability sampling methods, and clients were included based on their accessibility and availability to the infusions and accompanying psychotherapy. My sample was not random due to the archival sampling method and limited number of clients who met inclusion criteria for this study. Therefore, I was unable to determine if the population was well represented which is a limitation to generalizability.

Limitations also include lack of socioeconomic data including household income and demographic factors beyond age and gender. Ketamine is expensive and the infusions are not covered under insurance plans at this time. A cycle of infusions costs roughly \$2,400 dollars, with accompanying psychotherapy the cost may be upwards of \$3,200 dollars. This may exclude clients of lower income households. The cost of infusions and accompanying psychotherapy may serve as a limitation in generalizing the results of this study to the general population as there may be some potential economic biases of privilege inherent with clients from higher SES backgrounds. Affordability and access to care is a major concern for both practitioners and clients who seek this treatment (Dore et al., 2019).

An additional limitation to this study is lack of comprehensive demographic data including race and ethnicity. The only demographic data collected by the ketamine clinic includes age, gender, past medical history, location in city and state, referral source, and mental health diagnosis; clients' race/ethnicity was not collected. As stated previously, racial and ethnic minorities experience poorer health outcomes, yet are not included in research studies as often as White people are (Center for American Progress, 2020; CDC, 2013). The lack of racial or ethnic identification was a proposed limitation for this study as no generalizations beyond the available sample demographics may be deduced on differences in depression ratings according to client race and ethnicity across ketamine infusion or KAP. Additional research which includes racial and ethnic demographic data of the population would be warranted as it relates to effectiveness of ketamine infusions and KAP.

In addition, the Hawthorne effect may have impacted the internal validity of this research. Defined as the change in client responses or behavior consequent to awareness of being studied in research, the Hawthorne effect has been found to influence client responses due to being observed and having behavior assessed (McCambridge et al., 2014). Clients become concerned about social desirability and researcher expectations

and may change their responses on self-report measures (McCambridge et al., 2014). This is a proposed limitation of using self-report measures in quantitative studies.

The sample only included clients with MDD who had completed six ketamine infusions. This excluded the clients who elected for ketamine infusions who have other mental health diagnoses, those who have completed less than six infusions, and those who were under 18 years of age at the time of ketamine infusion. The scope of this study included adults only, but it is important to note that ketamine clinics across the United States are also providing ketamine to adolescent clients for the treatment of TRD. The results of this study are applicable to adults only, however, previous research by Cullen et al., (2018) indicated the potential role of ketamine in the treatment of TRD for adolescents, especially those who report suicidality (Cullen et al., 2018). Further research should investigate effectiveness of ketamine infusions alone versus KAP for adolescents, as novel treatments for this population are urgently needed (Cullen et al., 2018).

As there were several therapists providing KAP, me included, the characteristics and effectiveness of each of the therapists may have affected the outcomes of the treatment and thus clients' responses to the PHQ-9. I described the clinician sample which included three professionals including two licensed professional counselors and one associate social worker. Despite this, controlling for individual counselor characteristics, including differences in effectiveness between theoretical orientations was beyond the scope of this study, yet would be important to identify in future studies whether there exist differences across theoretical approaches, degree and licensure, and years of experience providing KAP.

### Recommendations

There are several strengths and limitations due to the nature of this study which pose some considerations for future research. This study used archival data from a small ketamine clinic in the southeastern region of the United States. I conducted this study without randomization, controlling, or excluding variables, which may contribute to high knowledge translation into clinical practice. Due to the retrospective nature of this study and use of archival data, it was not possible to utilize random sampling which would increase ability to generalize, by isolating and manipulating variables. Recommendations for further research that are grounded in the strengths of this study include continued research on the effectiveness of ketamine and KAP in real world settings. Allowing for randomization in highly controlled environments, while may be more costly, require increased time and may be more logistically challenging, would help to confirm ketamine and KAP's effectiveness. Large sample sizes also allow for greater investigation into validity and reliability in comparison to small samples studies which may require stringent parameters, and greater likelihood for type 2 errors. Additional considerations to increase study validity and reliability include determining study mortality or participant drop out.

One of the inclusion criteria for this study included diagnosis of MDD. However, only 10 out of the 73 subjects were exclusively diagnosed with MDD. Most clients in this study had comorbid diagnoses including generalized anxiety disorder, ADHD, PTSD, and alcohol use disorder. Future researchers may choose to exclude subjects with more than one diagnosis to increase internal validity and reliability. In addition, there was no required baseline severity to qualify for a ketamine infusion, only diagnosis of MDD and failure to respond to at least two rounds of antidepressant medications of sufficient dose and time; this is considered TRD (Zhdanava et al., 2021). Future researchers may choose to include subjects based on a certain depression severity at intake to further contribute to the study's reliability and validity. Other considerations which were beyond the scope of this study include controlling for concomitant medications and physical health conditions.

Inclusion of race and ethnicity may contribute to a valuable investigation on effectiveness of KAP and ketamine infusions. The lack of racial or ethnic identification was a proposed limitation for this study as no generalizations beyond the available sample demographics may be deduced on differences in depression ratings according to client race and ethnicity across ketamine infusion or KAP. Future research is needed on optimal dose, route, and frequency that foregrounds accessibility for low income and marginalized communities which are already disproportionally affected by conditions for which this treatment may be effective (Walsh, 2022).

Recommendations for future research includes emphasis on developing KAP protocol in research and clinical work. For example, the *Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies* has created a treatment manual for MDMA, and Yale has created a manual for mental health treatment using psylocibin. These manuals are focused on using one or two certain theoretical orientations, whereas common factors, the theoretical foundation of this study, focuses on commonality among theoretical orientations. More research is warranted to better specify therapeutic modalities best suited for KAP (Walsh, 2022). In future studies, researchers who hope to investigate the differences between ketamine and KAP, or how to bolster the effects of ketamine through psychotherapeutic methods, can conduct adherence tests to ensure that therapists are meeting certain standards in their approach and techniques used to be deemed the orientation they follow.

Ketamine's effects have been investigated in the literature with some researchers measuring residual effects 7-21 days after final treatment (Li, et al., 2022; Marcantoni et al., 2021; McMullen et al., 2021). However, it is unknown whether prolonged risks associated with long-term use of ketamine exist. Despite the limited adverse effects in short term usage, this prolonged use of ketamine remains an important consideration for future research (Walsh, 2022).

# Implications

# **Social Change Implications**

The findings from this research study strongly indicate that both ketamine and KAP are highly effective in reducing depression severity from baseline at intake to immediately following sixth and final infusion. The positive social change implications of this study include potential new treatment options for individuals who have been struggling with TRD. As stated previously, TRD affects between 20-60% of the population of clients diagnosed with psychiatric disorders (Howes et al., 2021). Zhdanava et al. (2021) noted that the number of adults diagnosed with TRD is 2.8 million or 1.1% of the United States population (Zhdanava, 2021). Traditional treatments often do not provide adequate symptom reduction leading to the treatment-resistant diagnosis (Akil et al., 2019; Rizvi & Khan, 2019), which has contributed to the need for new and effective

treatments. This study has contributed to the literature supporting the efficacy of these treatments.

An additional social change implication is that this study contributed to the literature on the effectiveness of ketamine by considering the critical problems faced by persons with treatment-resistant conditions and depressive disorders and highlighting the benefits of ketamine and KAP treatment. As stated previously, accessibility and equity are important in reducing barriers to access among marginalized or lower socioeconomic groups which are already disproportionally affected by treatment-resistant conditions (Walsh et al., 2022). While ketamine is a relatively new and developing treatment for TRD, it is expensive, between 400-2,000 dollars per infusion, not including KAP (KetamineClinicsDirectory.com, 2021). Ketamine infusions and KAP are not currently covered by health plans and has high out-of-pocket costs. Therefore, these treatments are not accessible to a large swath of the population. A potential positive social change impact of this study is that it can inform policy changes and establish need for insurance coverage of these treatment alternatives for depression, so that more people may benefit, especially those of low socioeconomic status and those already suffering from lack of effective and available treatments.

There are organizations which are working to make a difference in the broader and systemic level for ketamine access. The Ketamine Taskforce, created in 2019, was created by a group of ketamine providers and advocates who are lobbying and advocating for insurance coverage of ketamine services (Ketamine Taskforce, 2022). Osmind is a software company and Public Benefit Corporation which stores and tracks ketamine and other psychedelic mental health assessments and patient information (Osmind, 2022). In early 2022, Osmind published the largest real-world analysis of ketamine infusion therapy for MDD (McInnes et al., 2022). Osmind conducts large research analyses through ORKA (Osmind Real-World Ketamine Analyses) with the goal of improving access of ketamine to persons struggling with mental health problems (Osmind, 2022). This research is currently being used by the Ketamine Taskforce to advocate for insurance coverage. Additionally, the Taskforce recommends that clients who receive ketamine services submit the McInnes (2022) article to their insurance company when seeking partial or full reimbursement.

## Methodological, Empirical, and Theoretical Implications

The methodological implications from this study are varied. The findings from this study suggest that future research on KAP may include need for larger sample sizes and randomization to analyze different variables including demographics as well as theoretical orientation of clinician and years of experience. Larger sample sizes and randomization would address some concerns of this study related to validity and reliability and allow for greater generalizability to "real world" settings. Other considerations which were beyond the scope of this study include controlling for concomitant medications and physical health conditions.

It is worth noting that there are a few studies which have investigated the longterm benefits of ketamine infusions on depression severity (Li, et al., 2022; Marcantoni et al., 2021; McMullen et al., 2021). The researchers in these studies investigated the differences in depression reduction from 7 days to 21 days following last ketamine treatment. From my search of the literature, there are no existing studies demonstrating the lasting effects of KAP. There is a need to identify the multimodality strategies which would prolong the therapeutic effects of ketamine, which includes psychotherapeutic approaches.

Due to the nature of this study, clients who had been diagnosed with MDD were included in the analysis, but this did not exclude subjects who had also been diagnosed with generalized anxiety disorder, ADHD, PTSD, alcohol use disorder, or another mental health problem. This study reflects what is occurring in the "real world" of those seeking treatment, which includes high rates of comorbid disorders alongside TRD. Most research on KAP focuses on its effects on depressive disorders alone, which may exclude relevant considerations for comorbidity in mental or physical health conditions which impact an individual's need for treatment. Considerations for future research include accounting for comorbidity to generalize findings to the "real world" settings.

# **Recommendations for Practice**

Unlike the Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies and the Psilocybin Assisted Therapy Association, ketamine does not have an association which has published protocols, standards for practice, or manuals, though there are several organizations who provide their own training and certification. The stages of KAP as outlined in this study, namely, preparation, administration, and integration were modeled after Dore et al. (2019). It is important for practitioners who are interested in conducting KAP to conduct sufficient review of the literature on the benefits and risks associated with treatment.

It is important to note that ketamine has not been found to benefit every client who seeks out this treatment. For example, some clients become nauseated, and some do not respond to ketamine even under high doses (Dore et al., 2019). Others struggling with rigid personality structures find entering the trance state, wherein dissociation may occur, extremely difficult and report yielding little sustained positive change in their symptoms (Dore et al., 2019). It is important for clinicians to provide a thorough informed consent and conduct the necessary mental and physical health assessments prior to treatment. It is also recommended that clinicians seek appropriate supervision and consultation to ensure adherence to ethical and legal standards for practice. While ketamine has been used in much higher doses for medical purposes in emergency rooms and battlefields for several decades prior to mental health treatment, the American Counseling Association calls for clinicians to remain adequately trained and knowledgeable in the specific areas of their practice (A.9.b.; American Counseling Association, 2014), actively working to prevent physical or psychological harm to our clients (C.2.a; American Counseling Association, 2014). Recommendations for practice include staying abreast of current research on KAP, safety precautions, and published protocols to ensure successful treatment, as well as engaging in supervision and consultation should a clinician begin to integrate KAP into their clinical work.

#### Conclusion

Ketamine infusions and KAP are evolving and unique methodologies in the treatment of TRD. Over the course of the last decade, research on the effectiveness of these treatments is increasingly prevalent (Walsh et al., 2022). In this study, I presented a

comparison of ketamine infusions and KAP from a ketamine clinic in the southeastern region of the United States. Findings from the current study support the efficacy of both ketamine infusions and KAP in reducing depression severity scores from baseline at intake till the end of the six-infusion cycle among clients diagnosed with MDD. However, findings in the current study did not indicate statistically significant difference between infusions only and KAP. This study contributes to the growing literature on possible new treatment options for individuals who have been struggling with treatmentresistant mental health conditions. In addition, I conducted this research to help inform policy changes and establish needs for insurance coverage of ketamine and KAP to improve access and accessibility for those who urgently need new and novel treatment for their mental health conditions.

#### References

- Aberson, C. L. (2015). Statistical power analysis. In R. A. Scott & S. M.
- Kosslyn (Eds.). Emerging trends in the social and behavioral sciences. Wiley.
- ACAPS (April, 2016). Data cleaning: Dealing with messy data.
  - https://www.acaps.org/sites/acaps/files/resources/files/acaps\_technical\_brief\_data \_cleaning\_april\_2016\_0.pdf
- Akil, H., Gordon, J., Hen, R., Javitch, J., Mayberg, H., McEwen, B., Meaney, M. J., &
- Nestler, E. J. (2019). Treatment resistant depression: A multi-scale, systems biology approach. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 84, 272-288. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.neubiorev.2017.08.019
- American Counseling Association. (2014). 2014 ACA Code of Ethics. https://www.counseling.org/resources/aca-code-of-ethics.pdf
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- American Psychiatric Nurses Association (APNA). (2022). *Ketamine infusion therapy treatment considerations*. https://www.apna.org/ketamine-infusion-therapy/
- Andrade, C. (2017). Ketamine for depression, 4: In what dose, at what rate, by what route, for how long, and at what frequency? *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 78(7), 852-857. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.17f11738
- Becker, J. (2016). Regarding the transpersonal nature of ketamine therapy: An approach to the work: In Wolfson, P., & Hatelius, G. (eds.), *The Ketamine Papers: Science, therapy, and transformation*, (pp. 339-359).

- Berman et al. (2000). Antidepressant effects of ketamine in depressed patients. *Biological Psychiatry*, *47*(4), 351-354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00230-9
- Blackwell, T. L. & McDermott, A., N. (2014). Test Review: Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9). *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin 47*(4), 246-248. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0034355213515305
- Blais, M. A., Malone, J. C., Stein, M. B., & Slavin-Mulford, J. (2013). Treatment as
  Usual (TAU) for depression: A comparison of psychotherapy, pharmacotherapy,
  and combined treatment at a large academic medical center. *Psychotherapy*,
  50(1), 110-118. DOI: 10.1037/a0031385
- Blier, P. & Blier, J. (2016). Ketamine: Clinical studies in treatment- resistant depressive disorders. In S. J. Mathew, C. A. Zarate Jr. (eds.), *Ketamine for Treatment-Resistant Depression: The first decade of progress*, (pp. 31-42).
- Bottomley, J. M., LeReun, C., Diamantopoulos, A., Mitchell, S., & Gaynes, B. N. (2020).
  Vagus nerve stimulation (VNS) therapy in patients with treatment resistant
  depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 98, 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2019.152156
- Bueno-Notivol, Gracia-Garcia, P., Olaya, B., Lasheras, I., Lopez-Anton, R., &
  Santabarara, J. (2021). Prevalence of depression during the COVID-19 outbreak:
  A meta-analysis of community-based studies. *International Journal of Clinical Health Psychology*, 21(1),. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.ijchp.2020.07.007</u>
- Cameron, I. M., Crawford, J. R., Lawton, K., & Reid, I. C. (2008). Psychometric comparison of PHQ-9 and HADS for measuring depression severity in primary

care. British Journal of General Practice, 58(546), 32-36.

https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp08X263794

- Center for American Progress (May 7, 2020). Health Disparities by Race and Ethnicity: Fact Sheet. https://www.americanprogress.org/article/health-disparities-raceethnicity/
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013, November 26). CDC Health
- Disparities and Inequalities Report (CHDIR). https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/pdf/vs-0618-suicide-H.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (June, 2018). *CDC Vital Signs*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/pdf/vs-0618-suicide-H.pdf</u>
- Clifton, L., & Clifton, A. C. (2019). The correlation between baseline score and postintervention score, and its implications for statistical analysis. *Trials 20*, 43. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-018-3108-3
- Costantini, L., Pasquarella, C., Odone, A., Colucci, M. E., Costanza, A., Serafini, G.,
  Aguglia, A., Belvederi Murri, M., Brakoulias, V., Amore, M., Ghaemi, S. N., &
  Amerio, A. (2021). Screening for depression in primary care with Patient Health
  Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9): A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*,
  279, 473-483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.131</u>

Cuijpers, P., Sijbrandij, M., Koole, S., Andersson, G., Beekman, A., T., & Reynolds, C.
 F. (2014). Adding psychotherapy to antidepressant medication in depression and anxiety disorders: A meta- analysis. *World Psychiatry*, 13(1), 56-67.
 <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1002%2Fwps.20089">https://dx.doi.org/10.1002%2Fwps.20089</a>

- Cullen, K. R., Amatya, P., Roback, M. G., Albott, C. S., Shreiner, M. W., Ren, Y.,
  Eberly, L. E., Carstedt, P., Samikoglu, A., Gunlicks-Stoessel, M., Reigstad, K.,
  Horek, N., Tye, S., Lim, K., & Klimes-Dougan, B. (2018). Intravenous ketamine
  for adolescents with treatment-resistant depression: An open-label study. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology*, 28(7), 437-444.
  doi: 10.1089/cap.2018.0030
- Davey, C. G. (2021). Out of the night-time and into the day: Ketamine and MDMA as therapies for mental health disorders. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 55(8), 741-743. DOI: 10.1177/00048674211032112
- Davis, A. K., & Mangini, P. (2021). Ketamine assisted psychotherapy for traumaexposed patients in an outpatient setting: a clinical chart review study. *Journal of Psychedelic Studies*, 5(2), 94-102. https://doi.org/10.1556/2054.2021.00179
- DiazGranados N., Ibrahim, L. A., Brutsche, N. E., Ameli, R., Henter, I. D. Luckenbaugh,
  D., A., Machado-Vieria, R., & Zarate Jr., C. A. (2010). Rapid resolution of
  suicidal ideation after a single infusion of a N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist in
  patients with treatment-resistant major depressive disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *71*(12), 1605-1611. DOI: 10.4088/JCP.09m05327blu
- Dore, J., Turnipseed, B., Dwyer, S., Turnipseed, A., Andries, J., Ascani, G., Monnette,
  C., Huidekoper, A., Strauss, N., & Wolfson, P. (2019). Ketamine assisted
  psychotherapy (KAP): Patient demographics, clinical data and outcomes in three
  large practices administering ketamine and psychotherapy. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, *51*(2), 189-198.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2019.1587556

Duncan, B. (2002). The founder of common factors: A conversation with Saul
 Rosenzweig. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, 12(1), 10-31. DOI: 10.1037//1053-0479.12.1.10

Dyck, E. (2017, April 5). A psychedelic renaissance: Historical reflections on the future. *Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies*, 27(1). <u>https://maps.org/news/bulletin/a-</u>psychedelic-renaissance-historical-reflectionson-the-future/

- Frank, J. (1983). Therapeutic components shared by all psychotherapies. *Psychotherapy Research and Behavior Change*, 19-20. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/10083-001
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C. & Leon-Guerrero, A. (2018). *Social statistics for a diverse society* (8<sup>th</sup> ed.). SAGE Publications.

Garfield, S. (1997). Brief psychotherapy: The role of common and specific factors. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy 4*(4), 217-225. <u>https://eds.s.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=d06a5d54-</u> <u>0d41-4d69-a7f9-8445966466d2%40redis</u>

Gaynes, B. N., Warden, D., Trivedi, M. H., Wisnieweski, S. R., Fava, M., & Rush, J. A.
(2009). What did STAR\*D teach us? Results from a large-scale, practical, clinical trial for patients with depression. *Psychiatric Services*, 60(11): 1439-1145.
doi:10.1176/ps.2009.60.11.1439

Griffiths, C., Walker, K., Reid, I., Maravic da Silva, K., & O'Neill-Kerr, A. (2021). A

qualitative study of patients' experience of ketamine treatment for depression: The 'Ketamine and me' project. *Journal of Affective Disorders Reports, 4;* <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100079</u>

- Halstead, M., Reed, S., Krause, R., & Williams, M. T. (2021). Ketamine-assisted psychotherapy for PTSD related to racial discrimination. *SAGE Journals*, 20(4), 310- 330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1534650121990894</u>
- Handley, M. A., Lyles, C., McCulloch, C., & Cattamanchi, A. (2018). Selecting and improving quasi-experimental designs in effectiveness and implementation research. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 1(39), 5-25.
  https://dx.doi.org/10.1146%2Fannurev-publhealth-040617-014128
- Harwell, M. R. & Serlin, R. C. (1988). An empirical study of a proposed test of nonparametric analysis of covariance. *Psychological Bulletin*, *104*(2), 268-281.
  <u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=shib&db=edsovi</u>
  <u>&AN=e</u> dsovi.00006823.198809000.00007&site=eds-live&scope=site. Acesso em: 4 nov. 2022.
- Hodgkinson, S., Godoy, L., Beers L. S., & Lewin, A. (2017). Improving mental health access for low-income children and families in a primary care setting. *Pediatrics*, *139*(1), 1-9. doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2015-1175</u>
- Howes, O. D., Thase, M. E., & Pillinger, T. (2021). Treatment resistance in psychiatry:
  State of the art and new directions: *Molecular Psychiatry*.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-021-01200-3

Hyde, S. (2015). Ketamine for Depression. Xlibris Corporation. (pp.133-155).

InnovativeKetamine.com (2021). *Cost.* <u>https://innovativeketamine.com/cost/</u> InnovativeKetamine.com (2021). *What to Expect.* 

https://innovativeketamine.com/depression-treatment/

Inoue, T., Tanaka, T., Nakagawa, S., Nakato, Y., Kameyama, R., Boku, S., Toda, T. K., & Koyama, T. (2012). Utility and limitations of PHQ-9 in a clinic specializing in psychiatric care. *BMC Psychiatry*, *12*(73), 1-6.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-12-73

Jilka, S., Murray, C., Wieczorek, A., Griffiths, H., Wykes, T., & McShane, R. (2019). Exploring patients' and carers' views about the clinical use of ketamine to inform policy and practical decisions: Mixed-methods study. *BJ Psych Open*, 5(5): e62. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6669880/

Johns Hopkins Medicine. (n.d.). Mental Health Disorder Statistics. https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/health/wellness-and-prevention/mental-healthdisorder-statistics

Kamenov, K., Twomey, C., Cabello, M., Prina, A. M., & Ayuso-Mateos, J. L. (2017).
The efficacy of psychotherapy, pharmacotherapy, and their combination on functioning and quality of life in depression: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 47(3), 414-425.

https://dx.doi.org/10.1017%2FS0033291716002774

Karyotaki, E., Smit, Y., Holdt Henningsen, K., Huibers, M.J.H., Robays, J., de Beurs, D.,

& Cuijpers, P. (2016). Combining pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy or monotherapy for major depression? A meta-analysis on the long-term effects. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 194*, 144-152.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.01.036

KetamineClinicsDirectory.com (2021). Ketamine Infusion Cost.

https://ketamineclinicsdirectory.com/ketamine-infusion-cost/

Ketamine Taskforce (2022). *The Ketamine Taskforce: Committed to access to safe care, education, and insurance coverage.* https://www.ketaminetaskforce.org/

Li, W., Zhou, Y., Liu, W., Wang, C., Lan, X., Zhang, Z., Zhang, F., Ye, Y., Liu, H.,
Wu, K., McIntyre, R. S., & Ning, Y. (2022). Long-term outcomes of repeated
ketamine infusions in patients with unipolar and bipolar depression: A naturalistic
follow-up study. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 1*(300): 172-178.
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34952122/

- Lennon, A. (2021, May 24). How does ketamine work differently from other psychedelics? *Psychology Today*. <u>https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/the-</u> lucid-mind/202105/how-does-ketamine-work-differently-other-psychedelics
- Lowe, B., Kroenke, K., Herzog, W., & Grafe, K. (2004). Measuring depression outcome with a brief self-report instrument: Sensitivity to change of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9). *Journal of Affective Disorders, 81,* 61-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0327(03)00198-8

Luoma, J. B., Chwyl, C., Bathje, G. J., Davis, A. K, & Lancelotta, R. (2020). A meta-

analysis of placebo-controlled trials of psychedelic-assisted psychotherapy.

Journal of Psychoactive Drugs, 52(4), 289-299.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2020.1769878

Marcantoni, W. S., Akoumba, B. S., Wassef, M., Mayrand, J., Lai, H., Richard-

Devantoy, S., &Beauchamp, S. (2020). A systematic review and meta-analysis of the efficacy of intravenous ketamine infusion for treatment resistant depression: January 2009-January 2019. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *277*, 831-841. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.007

Matveychuk, D., Thomas, R., Swainison, J., Khullar, A., MacKay, M., Baker, G., &.
Dursun, S. M. (2020). Ketamine as an antidepressant: Overview of its
mechanisms of action and potential predictive biomarkers. *Therapeutic Advances in Psychopharmacology*, 10, 1-21.

https://dx.doi.org/10.1177%2F2045125320916657

McInnes, A. L., Qian, J. J., Gargeya, R. S., DeBattista, C., & Heifets, B. D. (2022). A retrospective analysis of ketamine intravenous therapy for depression in real world settings. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 301*, 486-495. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35027209/

McMullen, E. P., Lee, Y., Lipsitz, O., Lui, L. M. W., Vinberg, M., Ho, R., Rodrigues, N.
B., Rosenblat, J. D., Cao, B., Gill, H., Teopiz, K. M., Cha, D. S., & McIntyre, R.
S. (2021). Strategies to prolong ketamine's efficacy in adults with treatment-resistant depression. Advances in Therapy,38(6), 2795-

2820.https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8189962/

- McSweeney, M. & Porter, A. (January, 1971). Comparison of rank analysis of covariance and nonparametric randomized blocks analysis [Paper presentation].
  Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New York, New York.
- Mithoefer, M. C. (2015). A manual for MDMA-assisted psychotherapy in the treatment of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies (MAPS). https://maps.org/research-archive/mdma/MDMA-Assisted-Psychotherapy-Treatment-Manual-Version7-19Aug15-FINAL.pdf
- McCambridge, J., Witton, J., & Elbourne, D. R. (2014). Systematic review of the Hawthorne effect: New concepts are needed to study research participation effects. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 67(3), 267-277.
   <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.jclinepi.2013.08.015">https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.jclinepi.2013.08.015</a>
- Mental Health America (MHA). (2018). *Mental health in America: Access to care data* 2018. <u>https://www.mhanational.org/issues/mental-health-america-access-care-</u> data-2018
- Mithawala, P. K., & Davis, D. M. (May 15, 2020). Managing treatment-resistant depression. U.S. Pharmacist, 45(5), 15-19.

https://www.uspharmacist.com/article/managing-treatmentresistant-depression

Moghaddam, B. (2021). Ketamine. Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Murrough, J. W., Perez, A., M., Pillemer, S., Stern, J., Parides, M. K., Rot, M., Collins,

K. A., Mathew, S. J., Charney, D. S., & Iosifescu, D., V. (2013). Rapid and longer-term antidepressant effects of repeated ketamine infusions in treatment-resistant major depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, *74*(4), 250-256.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.06.022

National Institute on Drug Abuse (2017, September). *What is the history of MDMA?* <u>https://nida.nih.gov/publications/research-reports/mdma-ecstasy-abuse/what-is-</u> <u>the-</u>history-of-mdma

National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) (2021). Mental Illness.

https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-

illness#:~:text=Nearly%20one%20in%20five%20U.S.,mild%20to%20moderate% 20to%20severe.

National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) (2021). Suicide.

https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/suicide

Nunes, E. V., Pavlicova, M., Hu, M., Campbell, A. N., Miele, G., Hien, D., & Klein, D.
F. (2011). Baseline matters: The importance of covariation for baseline severity in the analysis of clinical trials. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse,* 37(5), 446-452. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2011.596980</u>

Olejnik, S. F. & Algina, J. (1984). Parametric ANCOVA and the rank transform ANCOVA when the data are conditionally non-normal and heteroscedastic. *Journal of Educational Statistics*, 9(2), 129-149. https://doi.org/10.2307/1164717

Osmind (2022). The goal of Osmind Real-World Ketamine Analyses (ORKA).

https://www.osmind.org/orka1

Phillips, J. L., Norris, S., Talbot, J., Birmingham, M., Hatchard, T., Ortiz, A., Owoeye,
O., Batten, L. A., & Blier, P. (2019). Single, repeated, and maintenance ketamine infusions for treatment-resistant depression: A randomized control trial. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 176(5), 401-409.

https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.18070834

- Rizvi, S. & Khan, A. M. (2019). Use of transcranial magnetic stimulation for depression. *Cureus*, 11(5), 1-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.4736</u>
- Rogers, C. R. (1957). The necessary and sufficient conditions of therapeutic personality change. *Journal of consulting psychology*, 21(2), 95-103. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0045357
- Rosenzweig, S. (1936). Some implicit common factors in diverse methods of psychotherapy. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, *12*(1), 5-9.
  DOI: 10.1037//1053-0479.12.1.5

Samstag, L. W. (2007). The necessary and sufficient conditions of therapeutic personality change: Reactions to Rogers' 1957 article. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 44*(3), 295-299.

DOI: 10.1037/0033-3204.44.3.295

Sanacora, G., Frye, M. A., McDonald, W., Mathew, S. J., Turner, M. S., Schatzberg, A. F., ketamine in the treatment of mood disorders. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 74(4), 399-405. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0080

Schneider, B. A., Avivi-Reich, M., & Mozuraitis, M. (2015). A cautionary note on the

use of the Analysis of Covariance (ANCOVA) in classification designs with and without within-subject factors. *Frontier Psychology*, *6*(474).

https://dx.doi.org/10.3389%2Ffpsyg.2015.00474

- Shieh, G. (2019). Power analysis and sample size planning in ANCOVA designs.
  Psychometrika, 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11336-019-09692-3</u>
- Summer, R. L., Chacko, E., McMillan, R., Spriggs, M. J., Anderson, C., Chen, J., French, A., Jung, S., Rajan, A., Malpas, G., Hay, J., Ponton, R., Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., & Sundram, F. (2021). A qualitative and quantitative account of patients' experiences of ketamine and its antidepressant properties. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, *35*(8), 946-961.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881121998321

Sun, Y., Fu, Z., Bo, Q., Mao, Z., Ma, X., & Wang, C. (2020). The reliability and validity of PHQ-9 in patients with major depressive disorder in psychiatric hospitals. *BMC Psychiatry*, 20: 474, 1-7.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-02885-6

United States Food and Drug Administration (2022, February 16). *FDA alters health care professionals of potential risks associated with compounded ketamine nasal spray.* https://www.fda.gov/drugs/human-drug-compounding/fda-alerts-healthcare-professionals-potential-risks-associated-compounded-ketamine-nasalspray#:~:text=However%2C%20the%20%E2%80%9CS%E2%80%9D%20form, depressive%20disorder%20with%20acute%20suicidal

Veraart, J. K. E., Smith-Apeldoorn, S. Y., Spaans, H., Kamphuis, J., & Shoevers, R. A.

(2021). Is ketamine an appropriate alternative to ECT for patients with treatment resistant depression? A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 281,* 82-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.11.123</u>

Voineskos, D., Daskalakis, Z. J., & Blumberger, D. M. (2020). Management of treatment-resistant depression: Challenges and strategies. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 16, 221-234.

https://dx.doi.org/10.2147%2FNDT.S198774

- Walsh, Z., Mollaahmetoglu, O. M., Rootman, J., Golsof, S., Keeler, J., Marsh, B., Nutt, D., & Morgan, C. J. A. (2022). Ketamine for the treatment of mental health and substance use disorders: comprehensive systematic review. *BJ Psych Open*, 8(1), e19, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjo.2021.1061</u>
- Wampold, B. E. (2015). How important are the common factors in psychotherapy: An update. *World Psychiatry*, 14(3): 270-277. DOI 10.1002/wps.20238
- Wan, F. (2018). Analyzing pre-post randomized studies one post-randomization score using repeated measures and ANCOVA models. *Statistical Methods Medical Research, 28*(10-11). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0962280218789972</u>
- Warner, R. M. (2013). Applied Statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques. SAGE Publications, Inc. (pp. 693-714).
- Weinbroum, A. A. (2021). Therapeutic values of ketamine for COVID-19 cared patients:
  An experts point of view. *International Journal of Anesthesia and Critical Care, I*(1): 1-4. https://www.scientificarchives.com/journal/international-journal-ofanesthesia-and-critical-care

 Wolfson, P. (2016). Opportunities and strategies for ketamine psychotherapists. In
 Wolfson, P., & Hatelius, G. (eds.), *The Ketamine Papers: Science, therapy, and transformation*, (pp. 339-359).

Zhdanava, M., Pilon, D., Ghelerter, I. Chow, W., Joshi, K., Lefebvre, & Sheehan, J. J.
(2021). The prevalence and national burden of treatment- resistant depression and major depressive disorder in the United States. *Journal in Clinical Psychiatry*, 82(2), pg# range. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.20m13699</u>